#### Release of EPA's Draft Climate Change Adaptation Plan for Public Review and Comment

EPA announces the release of the Agency's draft *Climate Change Adaptation Plan* for public review and comment. The document can be found at: <u>http://epa.gov/climatechange/impacts-adaptation/fed-programs.html</u>.

The public may provide comments on the draft document through the Agency's docket system at: <u>https://www.fdms.gov</u>. The docket number is EPA-HQ-OA-2012-0247.





# U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Strategic Sustainability Performance Plan

FY 2010-FY 2020

# June 29, 2012



## **Table of Contents**

Policy Statement	Section 1
Executive Summary	Section 2
Abbreviated Agency Size and Scope Table	Section 3
Goal Analysis	Section 4
Climate Change Adaptation Plan	Appendix A
Fleet Management Plan	Appendix B
Biobased Purchasing Strategy	Appendix C

## **Agency Point of Contact**

Craig E. Hooks EPA Senior Sustainability Officer (202) 564-4600 hooks.craig@epa.gov Section 1: Agency Policy Statement

#### **Agency Policy Statement**

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency has integrated a commitment to reduce its carbon footprint, protect the environment, and better understand and address climate change adaptation into its core programs, including: strategic planning, budget processes, operations and management systems. The EPA is committed to the priorities and sustainability goals established in its Strategic Sustainability Performance Plan for the following areas:

- Greenhouse gas and energy reductions
- Fleet efficiency
- Water conservation
- · High performance and sustainable buildings, ESPC initiatives, and regional and local planning
- · Pollution prevention, waste reduction and diversion
- Sustainable acquisition
- Electronic stewardship and data centers
- Agency innovation and governmentwide support

The agency recognizes the need to continue to serve as a model for other federal agencies by reducing its impact on the environment. In the coming year, the EPA plans to continue to invest the human and financial resources required to make cost-effective improvements in its energy and environmental performance.

As the EPA's Senior Sustainability Officer and Chief Acquisition Officer, I am committing the agency's leadership and active participation of every EPA employee in the implementation of the agency's SSPP. I am also committing the agency to anticipate and plan for future changes in climate by incorporating considerations of climate change into its programs, policies, rules and operations to ensure they are effective under future climatic conditions. In conjunction with the EPA's Chief Financial Officer, Chief Information Officer, Senior Real Property Officer, General Counsel, and all program offices and regions, the EPA commits to meeting its SSPP goals in a comprehensive and cost-effective manner.

CraigE. Hook

EPA Senior Sustainability Officer

Section 2: Executive Summary

#### **Executive Summary**

In fiscal year 2011, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) continued to meet or exceed the federal sustainability goals required under Executive Order (EO) 13514. EPA once again demonstrated leadership among federal agencies in the numerous challenges to reduce its environmental footprint and promote sustainability. The agency is continuing its sustainability efforts in FY 2012.

#### Goal 1 Summary – Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Reduction and Inventory:

#### **GHG Emissions**

In FY 2011, the EPA reported Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions of 60,634 metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent ( $MTCO_2e$ ), which is 56.9 percent lower than its revised FY 2008 emissions baseline (EPA's FY 2020 goal is 25 percent). EPA achieved these reductions through major energy efficiency projects at its facilities, improved fleet management practices, and extensive green power purchases, which enabled the agency to reduce its reported Scope 2 GHG emissions under current Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ) guidance.

Also, in FY 2011, EPA's Scope 3 GHG emissions decreased approximately 10 percent compared to the revised FY 2008 baseline (EPA's FY 2020 goal is 8 percent). Due to the video conferencing equipment installation initiative, completed in FY 2010, EPA has cut annual Scope 3 GHG Business Travel emissions by 32 percent since FY 2008 and by 28 percent since FY 2010, through the first quarter of FY 2012. A significant drop in Scope 3 GHG emissions associated with employee business travel accounted for a large portion of this decrease.

#### Goal 2 Summary – Buildings, Energy Savings Performance Contracts (ESPCs), Regional and Local Planning:

#### Energy Intensity/Renewable Power/ Energy Independence and Security Act (EISA)/ Metering

EPA's FY 2011 reported energy intensity was 310,860 British thermal units (Btu) per gross square foot (GSF), which is 19.9 percent below the FY 2003 baseline (including green power and source energy credits). Without accounting for green power, EPA's FY 2011 reported energy intensity was 317,848 Btu per GSF, or 18.1 percent below the FY 2003 baseline. The agency met the energy intensity reduction required under EISA and EO 13514—18 percent by the end of FY 2011 compared to an FY 2003 baseline. EPA will continue to closely track and manage its energy use and plans to continue making significant progress in reducing its energy intensity in FY 2012.

In FY 2011, EPA initiated or completed work on several major energy efficiency capital improvement projects representing more than 50 billion Btu of potential annual energy savings. In addition, the agency continued to work on several renewable energy projects. In FY 2011, onsite renewable resources such as wind, solar, and geothermal power supplied EPA with 8.8 billion Btu, equivalent to 0.68 percent of the agency's energy use.

EPA exceeded its goal of completing EISA energy assessments at 75 percent of all covered facilities by the end of FY 2011. To date, the agency has completed 78.5 percent of its energy assessments required by EISA and is on track to complete 100 percent of its energy assessments by the end of June 2012.

EPA continued to be a leader among federal agencies by offsetting 100 percent of its FY 2011 electricity use with purchased green power and renewable energy certificates (RECs). The agency will continue to purchase 100 percent green power for FY 2012 and is working to procure green power RECs for FY 2013.

Finally, EPA installed advanced metering hardware at five laboratory facilities and one support building in FY 2011, and also awarded advanced metering hardware construction contracts and/or had advanced metering projects under construction at six laboratory facilities. Advanced metering hardware is now installed or under construction to capture 76 percent of agencywide reportable energy consumption.

#### **High Performance Sustainable Buildings**

Using EPA's projected FY 2015 Federal Real Property Profile (FRPP) inventory, 7.8 percent (by number of buildings) of the agency's FRPP buildings measuring greater than 5,000 square feet met the *Guiding Principles for Federal Leadership in High Performance and Sustainable Buildings* (*Guiding Principles*) in FY 2011. EPA continued to implement its *Building Management Plan Guidelines* (BMPG) at two FRPP facilities in FY 2011: the Environmental Science Center (ESC) in Fort Meade, Maryland, and the Large Lakes Research Station in Grosse Ile, Michigan. The agency also used its *Best Practice (Environmental) Lease Provisions* (BPLP) and green market survey, which it developed and used in conjunction with the U.S. General Services Administration (GSA), during the competitive acquisition process for a new Region 7 Office in Lenexa, Kansas. In FY 2011, EPA staff screened approximately 45 construction projects and lease actions through EPA's GreenCheck process. This process which is EPA's sustainability and requirements checklist is applied to projects requiring funding in excess of \$85,000, affecting at least 5,000 GSF, or increasing impervious areas by more than 5,000 GSF.

In FY 2011, EPA occupied 10 buildings certified Gold or Silver under the U.S. Green Building

Council's (USGBC's) Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) for New Construction & Major Renovations rating system, as well as four buildings certified Platinum, Gold, or Silver under the LEED for Existing Buildings: Operations & Maintenance (O&M) rating system; a fifth building received Platinum certification under the LEED for Existing Buildings: O&M rating system in early FY 2012. EPA is also pursuing LEED for Commercial Interiors certification at three additional offices. In addition, four office buildings that EPA

occupies received the ENERGY STAR label in 2011; currently, all 10 EPA regional offices have received the ENERGY STAR building label, eight of which received it within the last three years. The agency also performed sustainable building assessments at six laboratories in FY 2011.

In March FY 2012, EPA moved to a new Puerto Rico operations office, which the agency expects will receive the island's first LEED Commercial Interiors Rating and expects a Gold Rating.

#### **ESPC** Initiative

In December 2011, President Obama announced nearly \$4 billion in investments of combined federal and private sector energy upgrades to buildings over the next two years. Federal agencies are required to: a) implement energy conservation measures (ECMs) in federal buildings with a payback time of less than 10 years, consistent with real property and capital improvement plans, and b) enter into a minimum of \$2 billion in performance-based contracts in federal building energy efficiency within 24 months from the date of the memorandum.

EPA has proposed \$9 million in ESPC projects consisting of:

- A \$5 million solar ESPC power purchase agreement at EPA's Edison, New Jersey facility to be procured through an open ESPC contract with the Defense Logistics Agency; and
- A \$4 million boiler upgrade ESPC agreement at the Andrew W. Breidenbach Environmental Research Center (AWBERC) in Cincinnati, Ohio to be procured through the ID/IQ contract with the Department of Energy.

The agency will continue to pursue the proposed ESPCs to determine if they are economically feasible and advantageous. To meet its commitment under the Presidential memorandum, the feasibility and contracting for these projects must be completed by December 3, 2013.

#### **Regional and Local Planning**

Since July 2009, EPA has worked with the U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT), the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), and other federal agencies in a Partnership for Sustainable Communities (PSC) in addition to the General Services Administration (GSA) and other federal agencies to address and publish resources about sustainable strategies for federal facility siting at the national level.

In FY 2011, the agency updated its Architecture and Engineering (A/E) Guidelines covering all new construction and major renovation projects at EPA-owned facilities, including information on sustainable siting and transportation planning. In early 2011, EPA created a new section of its website (www.epa.gov/greeningepa) to disclose all new construction and renovation actions subject to National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) and any information relevant to environmental assessments (EAs) or environmental impact statements (EISs) required under NEPA. EPA has also included the federal siting guidelines into the Agency's green leasing requirements, ensuring that all new leasing actions follow the appropriate guidelines. The agency recently incorporated Federal Sustainable Location Guidance into its A/E Guidelines, BPLP, and GreenCheck process.

## **Goal 3 Summary – Fleet Management:**

#### Fleet

In FY 2011, EPA acquired 153 alternative fuel vehicles (AFVs) and received four credits for utilization of biodiesel for a total of 157 Energy Policy Act (EPAct) credits. Compared to the EPAct requirement of 98 credits (75 percent of the 130 non-exempt acquisitions), the agency achieved 121 percent EPAct compliance for FY 2011.

EPA has already exceeded the EO 13514 requirements to reduce petroleum consumption 30 percent by FY 2020, a full nine years earlier than required. In accordance with EO 13423 and 13514, the agency was required to limit petroleum consumption to a maximum of 451,744 gasoline gallon equivalents (GGEs). EPA's actual petroleum consumption amount was 345,602 GGEs, representing a decrease of approximately 32.7 percent from the 2005 baseline consumption level, thereby continuing to exceed the 20 percent reduction goal four years earlier than required. This reduction more than doubled the 12 percent cumulative petroleum reduction requirement for FY 2011.

For FY 2011, EPA did not reach the EO 13423 requirement for increasing alternative fuel consumption by 10 percent compounded annually. The agency's target goal for FY 2011 alternative fuel consumption was 79,000 GGEs as compared to the actual consumption level of 53,750 GGEs, a difference of 25,250 GGEs from the target. EPA will continue to work to meet EO 13423's overall requirement for consuming a minimum of 115,665 GGEs of alternative fuel by FY 2015. The main obstacles for reaching this target have been a lack of alternative fuel infrastructure nationwide and conflicting federal regulation governing the acquisition of AFVs (mandated by EPAct 1992) and low GHG-emitting vehicles as defined by the EPA low GHG vehicle guidance.

Over the course of FY 2012, EPA's fleet program will focus on right-sizing the number and types of vehicles in the agency's inventory. In accordance with the Presidential Memorandum on Federal Fleet Performance and GSA Bulletin B-30, EPA completed its annual vehicle allocation methodology (VAM) analysis in February 2012 and identified a total of 42 non-exempt vehicles that the agency plans to eliminate from its fleet. This represents approximately 6 percent of the agency's non-exempt fleet inventory. Additionally, the agency identified six exempt fleet vehicles (i.e., emergency response and law enforcement) that will be eliminated in the coming months. These changes will result in significant annual cost savings for the agency in terms of lower leasing costs, reduced vehicle maintenance, and administrative savings. EPA will continue to monitor its fleet composition and ensure that the EPA is operating a lean and effective fleet into FY 2012 and beyond.

EPA continued to improve communication in FY 2011 between Headquarters and satellite fleet locations. The Agency Fleet Manager conducted quarterly conference calls with Regional Fleet Managers to discuss Agency progress and fleet issues. EPA has been working with GSA to lease plug-in hybrid electric vehicles and plans to have two of these vehicles in place in FY 2012.

## **Goal 4 Summary – Water Use:**

#### Water Intensity

In FY 2011, EPA's water intensity in reporting laboratories was 29.6 gallons per GSF, which is 15.3 percent lower than its FY 2007 water intensity baseline. The agency's water use rose slightly in FY 2011 compared to FY 2010, due in part to the loss of a major chiller plant at the National Vehicle and Fuel Emissions Laboratory (NVFEL) in Ann Arbor, Michigan, which required EPA to use temporary chillers with single-pass cooling for several months. Despite this increase, however, the agency still far exceeded the EO 13514 requirement to reduce its water intensity—8 percent in FY 2011 compared to the FY 2007 baseline.

Several individual EPA facilities achieved significant water reductions in FY 2011 by completing water conservation projects. Also in FY 2011, EPA conducted water assessments at and reported water conservation project opportunities for four EISA-covered facilities, as well as three non-EISA-covered facilities.

The agency also far exceeded the proposed requirements for reducing industrial, landscaping, and agricultural (ILA) water use set forth in EO 13514. EPA estimates that it used 56,006,852 gallons of non potable water for ILA use in FY 2011, which is 58.6 percent lower than its interim FY 2010 baseline.

EPA continues to work on a Condensate Recovery Project in Research Triangle Park (RTP), North Carolina, which will reduce water demand on the public utility by 8 million gallons per year, and increase the energy efficiency of a nearby Central Utility Plant (CUP).

#### **Facility Projects Improve Stormwater Management**

EPA's stormwater management efforts continued in FY 2011 in accordance with the requirements set forth in EO 13514, EISA Section 438, and the *Guiding Principles*. In FY 2011, EPA continued implementing sustainable stormwater management projects at its facilities nationwide, including the First Environments Early Learning Center (FEELC) in RTP, North Carolina; the Region 2 Laboratory in Edison, New Jersey; and the Atlantic Ecology Division (AED) Laboratory in Narragansett, Rhode Island.

#### **Goal 5 Summary – Pollution Prevention and Waste Reduction:**

#### **Pollution Prevention and Waste Reduction**

EO 13514 requires federal agencies to meet a solid waste and construction and demolition waste diversion rate of 50 percent by FY 2015. EPA, once again a leader among federal agencies, adopted a more aggressive waste reduction goal of 55 percent. Through its recycling, reuse, donation, composting, and other waste reduction efforts, the agency has already exceeded this goal. Based on data submitted by EPA facilities, including Headquarters, regional offices, and regional laboratories, the Agency achieved a FY 2011 waste diversion rate of 59 percent.

In FY 2011, EPA conducted a recycling and pollution prevention assessment at its Region 6 Office in Dallas, Texas. The agency also continued to engage its employees in its solid waste reduction efforts and launched its *Think Beyond the Bin* campaign, which encourages facilities to strengthen their waste diversion efforts by going beyond traditional recycling practices.

#### **Goal 6 Summary – Acquisition:**

In FY 2012, EPA continued to lead by example in meeting federal sustainability goals in green acquisition required under EO 13514. For the third consecutive year, the agency met or exceeded the requirement to procure 95 percent of new contract actions with green attributes. Since FY 2011, EPA's Office of Acquisition Management (OAM) has implemented several Balanced Scorecard (BSC) initiatives to improve acquisition planning, market research, and procurement data collection pertaining to green acquisition. As reported in the FY 2011 SSPP, the EPA Acquisition System (EAS) has been fully implemented Agencywide and contains data fields for recording the environmental attributes for contract actions on a quarterly basis. OAM began querying EAS in FY 2011 to ascertain if the Agency is in compliance with EO 13514. The results of the queries are reported to OAM management, analyzed to determine best practices, and reviewed for areas needing improvement.

OAM has implemented several BSC initiatives that have positively impacted the agency's compliance with EO 13514. The first initiative is the implementation of the Contract Management Assessment Program (CMAP). CMAP's evaluation process includes a requirement to check that Affirmative Procurement Program/Recovered Material provisions and clauses are cited in applicable contract files pursuant to the Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR) 23.404, Agency *Affirmative Procurement Programs*. The second initiative is the update of the acquisition planning policies that will implement procurement acquisition lead times. This initiative will lead to the issuance of Interim Policy Notice12-3, *Acquisition Planning*. Once implemented, the Acquisition Plan will include an EPA Streamlined Acquisition Plan (GPP). Also, OAM is actively involved in the following policy and training activities, which will continue to highlight the importance of sustainable acquisitions to the Agency workforce.

- Training for Agency acquisition and program office staff will focus on proper coding of contract actions in EAS, as well as acquisition planning as it relates to including sustainability requirements in specifications and statements of work. The results will yield improved data in EAS, which will facilitate EPA meeting the mandates of EO 13514.
- As a voting member on the Civilian Agency Acquisition Council (CAAC), supporting the appointment of an Agency environmental point of contact pursuant to the final version of FAR Case 2010-004, Biobased Procurement, which became effective May 18, 2012; and FAR Case, 2010-001, Sustainable Acquisition, (final version in the Office of Management and Budget [OMB] review process.)
- Collaborating with the Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics (OPPT) to enhance contract clause language in EPA Acquisition Regulation 1552.223-71, *EPA Green Meetings and Conferences*. The enhanced language allows Agency staff to select vendor

facilities that consistently provide green sustainability performance by selecting top performing "green" offsite vendor facilities for meetings and conferences.

- Reviewing and updating IPN 10-01 *Green Purchasing Plan* and revising the related Section 23.1, *Green Purchasing Plan* of the EPA Contracts Management Manual to include update guidance in this area.
- Revising EPA Order 1900.3, *Food at EPA Conference, Workshop, Ceremony, Reception or Observance* to prohibit the purchase and use of bottled drinking water at EPA sponsored meetings, conferences, and other official Agency events.

#### **Goal 7 Summary – Electronics and Data Centers:**

#### **Electronic Stewardship**

EPA's purchasing and information technology (IT) policies require the purchase of energyefficient and environmentally preferred options and features on electronic products. The agency has achieved a 100 percent power management enabling rate on all eligible EPA computers and monitors. The agency deployed enterprise-wide management software that is capable of establishing power-management settings for computers and monitors over the network and auditing computers and monitors on the network for compliance. EPA Personal Property Policy requires internal reuse of electronic equipment to the maximum extent possible. EPA's Personal Computer (PC) Configuration and Management Standard details numerous "green" requirements in accordance with EO 13423 and EO 13514. Specifically, the PC Refresh Cycle requires that all EPA PCs be upgraded or replaced if they do not meet the minimum standard. EPA ensures environmentally sound disposition of electronic products in the following ways:

- The Agency uses electronics recyclers that are certified under all of the current requirements; and
- All of the electronic equipment that EPA retired from service in 2010 was donated, reused, or recycled in an environmentally responsible manner.

#### **Data Centers**

EPA's OMB-approved plan to reduce its number of data centers includes increasing virtualization of data center activity, increasing activity hosted in a cloud computing environment, consolidating space and servers, and embracing efficient technologies through the following activities:

- Virtualization is already extensively used to support database hosting, and EPA currently is expanding virtualization to support the Web and application server tiers;
- EPA hosts more than 200 individual agency business applications in an innovative shared hosting environment offering many of the features of private cloud services; and
- The agency is engaged in an effort to consolidate a major national application by 40 percent, from 200 servers across the country to about 30 servers and related storage.

## **Goal 8 Summary – Agency Innovation:**

EPA will continue to lead federal agencies in providing innovation and government-wide support for meeting the goals of EO 13514 and beyond through the following activities:

- EPA will continue to be responsible for inter-agency working groups that support efforts covered in this plan;
- EPA will continue to develop tools or provide assistance to other agencies in meeting federal and congressional reporting requirements;
- EPA will collaborate to transfer or share space with other agencies or co-locate field offices across metropolitan areas or regions; and
- EPA will continue to implement the Federal Green Challenge program partnering with other federal agencies to meet or exceed the requirements of EO 13514.

# Section 3: Abbreviated Agency Size and Scope Table

# Table 1: Size and Scope of Agency Operations

Agency Size and Scope	FY 2011
Total Number of Employees as Reported in the President's Budget	17,761
Total Acres of Land Managed	665
Total Number of Facilities Owned	20
Total Number of Facilities Leased (GSA and Non-GSA lease)	145
Total Facility Gross Square Feet (GSF)	11,429,755
Operates in Number of Locations Throughout U.S.	165
Operates in Number of Locations Outside of U.S.	0
Total Number of Fleet Vehicles Owned	106
Total Number of Fleet Vehicles Leased	996

Section 4: Goal Analysis **Goal 1: Greenhouse Gas Reduction and Maintenance of Agency Comprehensive Greenhouse Gas Inventory** 

Agency-Specific Performance Metrics for Scope 1 & 2 GHG Emissions Reduction:



Progress toward Scope 1 & 2 Greenhouse Gas Goals

Note: E.O. 13514 requires each agency to establish a scope 1 & 2 GHG reduction target for FY2020. The target for this agency is 25% compared to FY2008. The red bar represents the agency's FY2008 baseline. The green bar represents the FY2020 target reduction. The blue bars show actual status in relationship to the target. The percentage on each bar shows the reduction or increase from the FY2008 baseline.

Agency-Specific Performance Metrics for Scope 3 GHG Emissions Reduction:



**Progress toward Scope 3 Greenhouse Gas Goals** 

Note: E.O. 13514 requires each agency to establish a scope 3 GHG reduction target for FY2020. The FY2020 target for this agency is 8% compared to the FY2008 baseline. The red bar represents the agency's FY2008 baseline. The green bar represents the FY2020 target reduction. The blue bars show actual status in relationship to the target. The percentage on each bar shows the reduction or increase from the FY2008 baseline.

increase from the FY2003 baseline.



**Agency-Specific Performance Metrics for Facility Energy Intensity Reduction:** 

**Progress toward Facility Energy Intensity Reduction Goals** 

0 2003 Baseline 2010 2011 2015 Target Note: EISA requires agencies to reduce energy intensity by 18% for FY2011, compared to an FY2003 baseline; a 30% reduction is required by FY2015. The red bar represents the agency's FY2003 baseline. The green bar represents the FY2015 target reduction. The blue bars show actual status in relationship to the target. The percentage on each bar shows the reduction or

## Agency-Specific Performance Metrics for Renewable Energy:



Use of Renewable Energy as a Percentage of Electricity Use

Note: EPAct requires agencies to increase the use of renewable energy as a percentage of electricity use to 5% by FY2010-2012 and 7.5% by FY2013 and beyond.

**Agency-Specific Performance Metrics for Total Buildings Meeting the Guiding Principles:** 



Note: E.O. 13514 requires that by FY2011 agencies have 7% of new, existing, and leased buildings >5,000 square feet meet the Guiding Principles; the requirement increases to 15% by FY2015. The green bar represents the FY2015 target. The blue bars show actual progress toward the target.

#### **Goal 3: Fleet Management**



#### **Agency-Specific Performance Metrics for Fleet Petroleum Reduction:**

Progress toward Fleet Petroleum Use Reduction Goals

Note: E.O. 13514 and EISA require that by FY2011 agencies reduce fleet petroleum use by 12%, compared to an FY2005 baseline. A 20% reduction is required by FY2015 and a 30% reduction is required by FY2020. The red bar represents the agency's FY2005 baseline. The green bars represent the FY2015 and FY2020 target reductions. The blue bars show actual status in relationship to the target. The percentage on each bar shows the reduction or increase from the FY2005 baseline.



#### **Agency-Specific Performance Metrics for Fleet Alternative Fuel Use:**

**Progress toward Fleet Alternative Fuel Consumption Goals** 

Note: E.O. 13423 requires that agencies increase total non-petroleum-based fuel consumption by 10% annually compared to an FY2005 baseline. Consequently, by FY2011 agencies must increase alternative fuel use by 77%, compared to an FY2005 baseline. By FY2015, agencies must increase alternative fuel use by 159.4%. The red bar represents the agency's FY2005 baseline. The green bar represents the FY2015 target. The blue bars show actual status in relationship to the target. The percentage on each bar shows the reduction or increase from the FY2005 baseline.

**Goal 4: Water Use Efficiency and Management** 



**Agency-Specific Performance Metrics for Potable Water Intensity Reduction:** 

**Progress toward Potable Water Intensity Reduction Goals** 

Note: E.O. 13514 requires agencies to reduce potable water intensity by 2% annually through FY2020, compared to an FY2007 baseline. Consequently, by FY2011 agencies are required to reduce potable water intensity by 8%, compared to an FY2007 baseline. A 16% reduction is required by FY 2015 and a 26% reduction is required by FY2020. The red bar represents the agency's FY2007 baseline. The green bars represent the FY2015 and FY2020 target reductions. The blue bars show actual status in relationship to the target. The percentage on each bar shows the reduction or increase from the FY2007 baseline.

**Goal 5: Pollution Prevention and Waste Reduction** 



Agency-Specific Performance Metrics for Non-Hazardous Solid Waste Diversion (Non-C&D):

Note: E.O. 13514 requires that by FY2015 agencies annually divert at least 50% of non-hazardous solid waste from disposal. The green bar represents the FY2015 target. The blue bars show actual progress toward the target.

# Goal 7: Electronic Stewardship and Data Centers

EPEAT	POWER MANAGEMENT	END-OF-LIFE	COMMENTS
•			

#### EPEAT:

	95% or more Monitors and PCs/Laptops purchased in FY2011 was EPEAT Compliant Agency-wide
$\bigcirc$	85-94% or more Monitors and PCs/Laptops purchased in FY2011 was EPEAT Compliant Agency-wide
	84% or less Monitors and PCs/Laptops purchased in FY2011 was EPEAT Compliant Agency-wide

## Power Management:

	100% Power Management Enabled Computers, Laptops and Monitors Agency-wide
$\bigcirc$	90-99% Power Management Enabled Computers, Laptops and Monitors Agency-wide
	89% or less Power Management Enabled Computers, Laptops and Monitors Agency-wide

## End-of-Life:

	100% of Electronics at end-of-life disposed through GSA Xcess, CFL, Unicor or Certified Recycler (R2, E-Stewards)
0	100% of Electronics at end-of-life disposed through GSA Xcess, CFL, Unicor or non-Certified Recycler
	Less than 100% of Electronics at end-of-life disposed through GSA Xcess, CFL, Unicor or non-Certified Recycler

**President's Performance Contracting Commitment** 



**Agency-Specific President's Performance Contracting Commitment Metrics:** 

**Agency-Specific President's Performance Contracting Commitment Metrics:** 



# Appendix A: Climate Change Adaptation Plan

# U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Climate Change Adaptation Plan



# June 2012

# Disclaimer

To the extent this document mentions or discusses statutory or regulatory authority, it does so for informational purposes only. This document does not substitute for those statutes or regulations, and readers should consult the statutes or regulations to learn what they require. Neither this document, nor any part of it, is itself a rule or a regulation. Thus, it cannot change or impose legally binding requirements on EPA, States, the public, or the regulated community. Further, any expressed intention, suggestion or recommendation does not impose any legally binding requirements on EPA, States, the public, or the regulated community. Agency decision makers remain free to exercise their discretion in choosing to implement the actions described in this Plan. Such implementation is contingent upon availability of resources and is subject to change.

# Contributors

This document was produced by the Cross-EPA Work Group on Climate Change Adaptation Planning. The Work Group members include:

Chair Senior Advisor for Climate Adaptation Office of the Administrator/Office of Policy:	loel D. Scheraga
Office of Administration and	Joer D. Scheraga
Resources Management (OARM):	Dan Amon
Office of Air and Radiation (OAR):	Bill Perkins, Erika Sasser, Lourdes Morales
Office of the Chief Financial Officer (OCFO):	Wyatt Boyd, Jason Bossie
Office of the Congressional and Intergovernmental Relations (OCIR):	Reynold Meni
Office of Chemical Safety and Pollution Prevention (OCSPP):	Richard Dumas
Office of Enforcement	
and Compliance Assurance (OECA):	Gerard C. Kraus, Melanie Shepherdson, Carol Holmes
Office of Environmental Justice (OECA/OEJ):	Victoria Robinson
Office of External Affairs	
and Environmental Education (OEAEE):	Cathy Milbourn, Enesta Jones
Office of General Council (OGC):	James Curtin, Daniel P. Schramm, Thomas Marshall
Office of Homeland Security (OHS):	Steve Williams

Office of International and Tribal Affairs (OITA):	David Guest, Anthony Socci
Office of Policy (OP)	Gerald Filbin, Catherine Allen
Office of Research and Development (ORD):	Andy Miller, Michael Slimak
Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response (OSWER):	Brigid Lowery, Jennifer Brady
Office of Water (OW):	Karen Metchis, Joel Corona
Region 1: Ken Moraff, Cynthia Greene	

- Region 2: Paul Simon, Irene Nielson
- Region 3: Michael Dunn, Joe Piotrowski
- Region 4: Beverly Banister, Kenneth Mitchell
- Region 5 Timothy Henry, Kate Balasa
- Region 6: Jim Brown, Jim Yarbrough
- Region 7: Rebecca Weber, Toni Gargas
- Region 8: Laura Farris
- Region 9: Karen Schwinn, Suzanne Marr
- Region 10: Joyce Kelly, Bruce Duncan
- Staff Support: Leah Cohen (Office of Policy)

# **Table of Contents**

Section	<u>Page</u>
Part 1: Vision of the Future EPA	7
Part 2: Known Vulnerabilities to EPA's Mission from Climate Change	11
2.1 Climate Change and Climate Impacts	11
2.2 Synthesis of EPA's Vulnerabilities	12
2.2.1 Goal 1: Taking Actions on Climate Change	
and Improving Air Quality	13
2.2.2 Goal 2: Protecting America's Waters	16
2.2.3 Goal 3: Cleaning Up Communities and Advancing Sustainable	
Development	20
2.2.4 Goal 4: Ensuring the Safety of Chemicals and Preventing Pollution	22
2.2.5 Goal 5: Enforcing Environmental Laws	23
2.2.6 EPA's Facilities and Operations	24
2.3 Climate Change Impacts on the Most Vulnerable Communities	26
2.4 Summary of Key Areas of Known Vulnerability	29
Part 3: Mainstreaming Climate Change Adaptation in EPA	32
3.1 Building Adaptive Capacity	32
3.2 Guiding Principles for Adaptation at EPA	33
3.3 Agency-wide Priorities	34
3.3.1 Priority: Fulfill Strategic Measures in FY 2011-2015 EPA Strategic Pla	n 34
3.3.2 Priority: Protect Agency Facilities and Operations	36

3.3.3 Priority: Factor Legal Considerations into Adaptation Efforts	37
3.3.4 Priority: Strengthen Adaptive Capacity of EPA Staff and Partners	
Through Training	38
3.3.5 Priority: Develop Decision-Support Tools that Enable EPA Staff and	
Partners to Integrate Climate Adaptation Planning into their Work	39
3.3.6 Priority: Identify Cross-EPA Science Needs Related to Climate	
Adaptation	40
3.3.7 Priority: Partner with Tribes to Increase Adaptive Capacity	41
3.3.8 Priority: Focus on Most Vulnerable People and Places	41
3.3.9 Priority: Measure and Evaluate Performance	42
3.3.10 Priority: Develop Program and Regional Office Implementation Plans	43
3.4 Importance of Partnerships	46
Part 4: Measuring and Evaluating Performance	48
4.1 Existing Strategic Performance Measures	48
4.2 New Performance Measures	49
Table: Summary of Program Vulnerabilities to Climate Change	
Impacts by EPA Strategic Goal	51

# Part 1: Vision of the Future EPA

We live in a world in which the climate is changing. Changes in climate have occurred since the formation of the planet. But humans are now influencing Earth's climate and causing it to change in unprecedented ways.

It is in this rapidly changing world that EPA is working to fulfill its mission to protect human

health and the environment. Many of the outcomes EPA is working to attain (e.g., clean air, safe drinking water) are sensitive to changes in weather and climate. Until now, EPA has been able to assume that climate is relatively stable and future climate will mirror past climate. However, with climate changing

#### Vision

EPA continues to fulfill its mission of protecting human health and the environment even as the climate changes.

more rapidly than society has experienced in the past, the past is no longer a good predictor of the future. Climate change is posing new challenges to EPA's ability to fulfill its mission.

It is essential that EPA adapt to anticipate and plan for future changes in climate. It must integrate, or mainstream, considerations of climate change into its programs, policies, rules and operations to ensure they are effective under future climatic conditions. Through climate adaptation planning, EPA will continue to protect human health and the environment, but in a way that accounts for the effects of climate change.

EPA has not yet conducted a detailed quantitative assessment of the vulnerability of its mission to climate change. This Climate Change Adaptation Plan uses expert judgment, combined with information from peer-reviewed scientific literature on the impacts of climate change, to identify potential vulnerabilities. It then presents priority actions the Agency will take to begin integrating climate adaptation planning into its activities.

EPA's focus on climate adaptation is part of a larger federal effort to increase the nation's

adaptive capacity and promote a healthy and prosperous nation that is resilient to a changing climate . A central element of EPA's efforts to adapt to a changing climate will be to strengthen the adaptive capacity of its own staff and its partners across the country. It will increase staff's awareness of ways that climate change may affect their ability to implement effective programs. It will empower

#### **Adaptive Capacity**

Adaptive capacity is the ability of a human or natural system to adjust to climate change (including climate variability and extremes) to moderate potential damages, to take advantage of opportunities, or to cope with the consequences.

staff to integrate climate adaptation into the work they do by providing them with the necessary data, information and tools.
EPA will also strengthen the adaptive capacity of its partners across the country in ways that are critical to attaining the Agency's mission. States, tribes, and local communities share responsibility for protecting human health and the environment, and partnerships with EPA are at the heart of the country's environmental protection system. These partnerships will be critical for efficient, effective and equitable implementation of climate adaptation strategies. EPA's Regional and Program Offices will therefore work with their partners, engage local stakeholders, and use a diversity of approaches to build adaptive capacity and encourage climate adaptation planning depending upon state, local, and tribal needs and conditions. EPA will continue to work with other federal agencies and international partners to enhance understanding of climate change and will also leverage collective knowledge about climate adaptation planning.

# EPA Policy Statement on Climate-Change Adaptation

EPA issued its first *Policy Statement on Climate-Change Adaptation* in June 2011.<sup>1</sup> The Policy Statement recognizes that climate change can pose significant challenges to EPA's ability to

fulfill its mission. It calls for the Agency to anticipate and plan for future changes in climate and incorporate considerations of climate change into its activities.

"I skate to where the puck is going to be, not where it has been." —Hockey great, Wayne Gretzky

The Policy Statement notes that many programs

throughout the Agency have already begun to anticipate and address the implications of a changing climate. These efforts have laid a solid foundation on which to build climate adaptation planning into EPA's activities. Nevertheless, more needs to be done.

The *Policy Statement* calls for the development and implementation of this EPA Climate Change Adaptation Plan to integrate climate adaptation into the Agency's programs, policies, rules and operations. Priority activities are to be identified that will be undertaken by the Program and Regional Offices, and reflected in the EPA's annual budget submissions. This Plan lays out the priority actions to begin the long-term process of integrating climate adaptation into the Agency's activities.

The *Policy Statement* also directs every EPA Program and Regional Office to develop an Implementation Plan that provides more detail on how it will meet the priorities and carry out the work called for in the agency-wide plan. At the same time, the *Policy Statement* recognizes that each Office is best positioned to determine how to integrate climate adaptation into its own activities, and provides each Office with the flexibility to develop its Implementation Plan in a manner consistent and compatible with its own circumstances and objectives.

All of this work will be guided by principles representing EPA's core values. EPA's efforts to integrate climate adaptation into existing programs and activities will use the best available

science, protect populations and locations most vulnerable to climate change and with the least ability to adapt, and use sensible analytic methods and approaches for developing adaptation strategies. Partnerships will be forged that include multiple levels of government, as well as private and nongovernmental partners throughout the country and internationally.

The *Policy Statement* acknowledges that mainstreaming adaptation planning will be an ongoing, long-term activity. The effectiveness of the Agency's adaptation activities will be monitored and evaluated to continually assess the effectiveness of actions. Lessons will be learned and shared across the Agency and with its partners at home and abroad. Likewise, EPA will learn from the experiences of its international counterparts and partners. Adjustments to the Agency's approaches and plans will be made as necessary. These adjustments will be reflected in regular updates to this agency-wide Plan.<sup>2</sup>

# **Initial Strategic Measures**

EPA has established initial goals for mainstreaming climate adaptation planning into its activities. The *FY 2011-2015 EPA Strategic Plan* contains the Agency's first "strategic performance measures" for integrating climate adaptation into its day-to-day operations.<sup>3</sup> Explicit commitments to attain the performance measures are now included in EPA's annual budget submissions to Congress.

The strategic performance measures contained in the *FY 2011-2015 Strategic Plan* commit the Agency to integrating adaptation planning into five major rulemaking processes and five major financial assistance mechanisms by 2015, using existing authorities. They also call for the integration of adaptation planning into five major scientific models or decision-support tools used in implementing Agency environmental management programs. These *Strategic Plan* commitments represent the Agency's best and most informed judgment about the most effective mechanisms for building adaptive capacity and promoting adaptive planning within EPA and by its partners. They also provide a set of measures for monitoring the Agency's progress on adaptation planning.

EPA emphasizes the importance of evaluating activities and acting on the lessons learned. EPA will seek to identify where its climate adaptation activities might have the greatest impact on protecting human health and the environment, replicate its successes, and identify areas needing improvement. It will be an ongoing challenge to measure the direct impact of EPA's adaptation planning activities on the resilience of its programs, and on the human health and environmental outcomes it is striving to attain. The Agency will continue to explore, test and evaluate other approaches for mainstreaming adaptation planning besides those already contained in the strategic performance measures. If necessary, it will develop improved strategic measures and annual performance measures. This ongoing process of evaluation and learning is consistent with EPA's commitment to transparency and accountability.

# **Contribution to a Healthy and Prosperous Nation**

The priority placed on mainstreaming climate adaptation within EPA complements efforts to encourage and mainstream adaptation planning across the entire federal government. Federal agencies now recognize that climate change poses challenges to their missions, operations and programs. Ensuring the capacity of federal government agencies to maintain essential services and achieve their missions in the face of climate change is critical for successful adaptation by the entire nation. Federal agencies are working together to plan for climate change using approaches that no longer assume past conditions are good indicators of the future. Although there is no single planning approach appropriate for all agencies, the use of consistent, but flexible, frameworks facilitates coordination across agencies and allows them to leverage common tools and methods.<sup>4</sup>

The federal government has an important and unique role in climate change adaptation, but is only one part of a broader effort that must include public and private partners throughout the country and internationally. Partnerships with states, tribes, local communities, other governments and international organizations, many of which have already begun to implement adaptation measures, are essential.

EPA's leadership and commitment to help build the nation's adaptive capacity are vital to the goal of protecting human health and the environment. Working with its partners, the Agency will help promote a healthy and prosperous nation that is resilient to a changing climate.

# Endnotes

<sup>1</sup> U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Policy Statement on Climate-Change Adaptation*, June 2, 2011, http://epa.gov/climatechange/Downloads/impacts-adaptation/adaptation-statement.pdf.

<sup>2</sup> Executive Order 13514 resulted in a process that requires every federal agency to submit annual progress reports to its sustainability and climate change adaptation plans.

<sup>3</sup> U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *FY 2011-2015 EPA Strategic Plan, Achieving Our Vision* (2011), http://epa.gov/planandbudget/strategicplan.html.

<sup>4</sup> White House Council on Environmental Quality, *Progress Report on the Interagency Climate Change Adaptation Task Force: Recommended Actions in Support of a National Climate Change Adaptation Strategy* (Washington, DC, October 5, 2010).

# Part 2: Known Vulnerabilities to EPA's Mission from Climate Change

# 2.1 Climate Change and Climate Impacts

The global climate is changing, and the impacts of this change are being felt across the United States and the world. These impacts pose new challenges to EPA as it strives to fulfill its mission of protecting human health and the environment. It is essential for the EPA to adapt if it is to reduce the vulnerability of its mission to climate change and continue fulfilling its statutory,

regulatory and programmatic requirements. It is vital that the EPA anticipate and plan for future changes in climate and incorporate considerations of climate change into many of its programs, policies, rules, and operations to ensure they remain effective under future climatic conditions.

During the past 50 years, average temperature across the United States has risen more than 2°F, while precipitation has increased an average of about 5 percent. Some

#### Vulnerability

Vulnerability is the degree to which a system is susceptible to, or unable to cope with, adverse effects of climate change, including climate variability and extremes.

extreme weather events, such as heat waves, intense precipitation events and regional droughts, have become more frequent and intense. One of the precipitation trends in the United States is the increasing frequency and intensity of heavy downpours (the types of events that cause runoff of pollutants and pathogens into our rivers and streams, and cause combined sewer systems to overflow in our cities). This change in heavy downpours was responsible for most of the observed increase in overall precipitation during the last 50 years.<sup>1</sup> Also, during the past 50 years, sea level has risen up to 8 inches or more along some coastal areas of the United States, and has fallen in other locations.<sup>2</sup>

These trends are expected to continue, partly due to past and future emissions of heat-trapping greenhouse gases from human activities, but will occur against a background of natural variations in climate.<sup>3</sup> In the United States, temperatures are projected to warm substantially over the 21<sup>st</sup> century under all projections of future climate change. These changes pose risks for a wide range of human and environmental systems, including public health, the quality of the air we breathe and the water we drink, freshwater resources, the coastal environment, wildlife and ecosystems, infrastructure, economic activity, cultural resources and social wellbeing. As such, the impacts of climate change introduce vulnerabilities across the mission and goals of EPA.

Around the world all countries are expected to feel the effects of climate change, although the specific impacts will vary. The impacts, however, are expected to disproportionately affect developing countries and those already at risk.<sup>4</sup> Within the United States, certain parts of the

population may be especially vulnerable to climate change<sup>5</sup>. For example, EPA recognizes that climate change may have significant impacts on subsistence resources in rural communities, Alaskan Native villages, and Indian Country. EPA's efforts to anticipate and adapt to the effects of climate change on its core mission, therefore will include helping the most vulnerable people and places reduce their exposure to climate change and improving their capacity to predict, prepare for and avoid adverse impacts.<sup>6</sup>

# 2.2 Synthesis of EPA's Vulnerabilities

The best available science directs our attention to areas where EPA's mission, facilities, and operations may be adversely affected by climate change. EPA has not yet conducted a detailed

quantitative assessment of the vulnerability of its mission to climate change. This Climate Change Adaptation Plan uses expert judgment, combined with information from peerreviewed scientific literature on the impacts of climate change, to identify potential vulnerabilities.

This section summarizes the Agency's known mission, facility, and operational vulnerabilities. As scientific understanding increases, other vulnerabilities may join the list. This summary is organized by EPA's five strategic goals, which represent EPA's approach to its work and reflect the results it works to achieve on behalf of the American people:<sup>7</sup> The assessment of EPA's climaterelated vulnerabilities is an ongoing process. This summary of known vulnerabilities should be viewed as a living document that will be updated as needed to account for new knowledge, data and scientific evidence.

- Goal 1: Taking Action on Climate Change and Improving Air Quality
- Goal 2: Protecting America's Waters
- Goal 3: Cleaning Up Communities and Advancing Sustainable Development
- Goal 4: Ensuring the Safety of Chemicals and Preventing Pollution
- Goal 5: Enforcing Environmental Laws

In addition to known vulnerabilities affecting each of the five goals, EPA has begun to assess the vulnerabilities of its facilities and operations to a changing climate. EPA must ensure the safety of its personnel, the safe and continued operation of its buildings and other critical assets (*e.g.*, vehicles), and the integrity of its grants and procurement systems. In the event of any catastrophic weather event, EPA's people, buildings and operations could be impacted. These vulnerabilities are summarized in this section. Finally, this section includes information on climate change impacts on the most vulnerable communities. For example, the Agency has a priority focus on children's environmental health and environmental justice, including minority, low-income, and indigenous populations, and these populations are discussed.

The assessment of EPA's climate change vulnerabilities is a dynamic process. The extent to which vulnerabilities have been identified and are understood varies across goals. The science of climate change will improve over time, providing greater weight of evidence to evaluate the consequences of existing and expected impacts. EPA will continue to identify new vulnerabilities and improve its understanding of known vulnerabilities as it undertakes more research, assessment, and monitoring activities, and fills in data gaps.

#### Examples of Data, Information, and Research Needs to Improve EPA's Assessment of its Vulnerabilities from Climate Change

Potential vulnerabilities remain difficult to assess in some areas because of limited scientific understanding of the potential impacts of climate change on some of EPA's programs. Examples of data, information, and/or research needs include:

- Characterization of local impacts to precipitation and hydrology for use in planning long-lived water infrastructure.
- Monitoring shifts in water quality and aquatic ecosystems in watersheds, and methods for incorporating such changes into water quality programs.
- The potential impact of more intense weather events on EPA's disaster response planning efforts.
- The site-specific impacts of climate change on Brownfields, Corrective Action Facilities under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), Superfund sites, RCRA Treatment, Storage and Disposal (TSD) facilities, non-hazardous solid waste facilities, and Leaking Underground Storage Tanks.
- The effect of climate change on energy efficiency programs given changes in energy demand and supply.
- The interactions between climate and the stratospheric ozone layer.
- The effects of climate change on multi-pollutant interactions in ecosystems.
- A characterization of climate-related trends in chemical use (*e.g.*, changing patterns of pesticide use and new chemical exposures to people and the environment), and implications for the review process for new chemicals or the registration process for new pesticides.

## 2.2.1 Goal 1: Taking Action on Climate Change and Improving Air Quality

America's communities face health and environmental challenges from air pollution, some of which are exacerbated by the growing effects of climate change. EPA is working with its partners to protect public health and the environment with programs that address indoor and outdoor air quality, climate change, pollution prevention, energy efficiency, industrial air pollution, pollution from vehicles and engines, radon, acid rain, stratospheric ozone depletion, and radiation protection. Within this broad portfolio, several programmatic areas are vulnerable to future climate change, presenting challenges for EPA to continue to achieve its core mission.

The extent of vulnerability, however, differs across program areas and is tied to EPA's understanding of the science and projections of future climate change impacts. Some key areas of known vulnerability for EPA's air programs are:

#### Tropospheric ozone pollution is likely to increase in certain regions due to the effects of

**climate change.** The relationship between temperature changes and tropospheric ozone formation is well understood. With climate change, higher temperatures and weaker air circulation in the United States will lead to more ozone formation even with the same level of emissions of ozone forming chemicals.<sup>8</sup> Studies project that climate change could increase tropospheric ozone levels over broad areas of the country, especially on the highest-ozone days.<sup>9</sup> Climate change also has the potential to lengthen the ozone season (the months of the year when weather conditions, along with pollutants in the air, can result in the formation of ground-level ozone in particular locations around the country), and may increase individuals' vulnerability to air pollution.<sup>10</sup>

EPA is working to reduce the number of areas in America that do not meet air quality standards. Increases in ozone due to climate change may make it more difficult to attain or maintain ozone standards. This will need to be taken into account when designing effective ozone precursor emission control programs.

Increases in tropospheric ozone concentrations due to climate change would

#### **Climate Change Impacts on Tropospheric Ozone Pollution**

Studies project that climate change could increase tropospheric ozone levels over broad areas of the country. Climate change also has the potential to lengthen the ozone season, and may increase individuals' vulnerability to air pollution.



Photo: U.S. EPA

Sources: (1) U.S. EPA (2009). Assessment of the Impacts of Global Change on Regional U.S. Air Quality: A Synthesis of Climate Change Impacts on Ground-Level Ozone. An Interim Report of the U.S. EPA Global Change Research Program. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC, EPA/600/R-07/094F. (2) K. Katsouyanni, et al., "Air Pollution and Health: A European and North American Approach (APHENA)," HEI Health Review Committee, Research Report #142 (Boston, MA: Health Effects Institute, October 2009), 5-90.

increase the public health burden from air pollution. The potential impacts on public health include more respiratory illnesses and increased risk of premature deaths.<sup>11</sup> This is a particular concern to sensitive subpopulations which are at risk for health effects from exposure to ozone. In order to better protect human health, Federal, state, tribal, and local governments will need to respond by improving the effectiveness of existing emissions control programs for ozone precursors or by implementing new control measures that will ensure attainment of the ozone National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS).

**Particulate matter (PM) levels are likely to be affected through changes in the frequency or intensity of wildfires.** While the impact of climate change on ambient PM levels remains somewhat uncertain, there is evidence indicating that climate change will affect PM levels through changes in the frequency or intensity of wildfires.<sup>12</sup> The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has reported with very high confidence that in North America, disturbances such as wildfires are increasing and are likely to intensify in a warmer future with drier soils and longer growing seasons.<sup>13</sup> Forest fires are likely to increase in frequency, severity, distribution and duration in the Southeast, the Intermountain West and the West due to climate change. The potential increase in PM resulting from wildfires may increase the public health burden in affected areas, which may include sensitive subpopulations at risk for increased health effects from being exposed to PM pollution and also complicate state efforts to attain the PM NAAQS and address regional transport of air pollution.

**Climate change may worsen the quality of indoor air.** Climate change may worsen existing indoor environmental problems and introduce new ones as it alters the frequency or severity of adverse outdoor conditions. Some examples of potential indoor air quality impacts include:

- Heavy precipitation events may contribute to increases in indoor dampness and building deterioration, increasing occupants' exposure to mold and other biological contaminants and emissions from building materials, as well as outdoor environmental pollutants, due to breakdown of the protective building envelope.
- Temperature increases may affect the emergence, evolution and geographic ranges of pests, infectious agents and disease vectors. This may lead to shifting patterns of indoor exposure to pesticides as occupants and building owners respond to new infestations.
- Warmer average temperatures may lead to changes in occupant behavior that may create health risks. Moreover, residents may weatherize buildings to increase comfort and indoor environmental quality in addition to saving energy. Although in general, these actions should be encouraged, this may lead to a reduction in ventilation and an increase in indoor environmental pollutants unless measures are taken to preserve or improve indoor air quality.<sup>14</sup>

These impacts may increase public health risks, particularly to the young, the elderly, and other disproportionately impacted populations.

Climate change may alter the effects of and strategic priorities within EPA's regulatory and voluntary programs to help restore the stratospheric ozone layer. The interactions between the changing climate and ozone layer are complex. Climate change affects the ozone layer through changes in chemical transport, atmospheric composition and temperature. In turn, changes in stratospheric ozone can have implications for the weather and climate of the

troposphere. Stratospheric ozone depletion and increases in global tropospheric ozone that have occurred in recent decades have differing contributions to climate change. Additionally, climate change may exacerbate the health effects of ozone layer damage at some latitudes and mitigate them at others.<sup>15</sup> Ozone depletion and climate change are also linked because both ozone depleting substances and most of their principal substitutes are significant greenhouse gases. While the science continues to evolve, potential climate change impacts are included in the planning and implementation of the Agency's programs to protect stratospheric ozone.

Scientific understanding related to ways that climate change may affect the interactions of sulfur, nitrogen, and mercury deposition with ecosystems is evolving. While there is limited scientific evidence on this topic, additional research is underway to better understand how patterns in the atmospheric deposition of sulfur, nitrogen, and mercury with projected changes in the climate and carbon cycle will affect ecosystem growth, species changes, surface water chemistry, and mercury methylation and bioaccumulation.<sup>16</sup> The potential impacts could have consequences for the effectiveness of ecosystem protection from Agency emissions reduction programs.

## 2.2.2 Goal 2: Protecting America's Waters

The nation's water is the lifeblood of our communities, supporting our economy and way of life, and is the basis of all ecosystems.

EPA works with its state, local and tribal partners to protect and restore the nation's waters. Together we protect public health by reducing human exposure to contaminants in drinking water, fish and shellfish, and recreational waters. We protect and restore watersheds and aquatic ecosystems by protecting the quality of rivers, lakes, streams, wetlands and coastal and ocean waters. EPA's programs include support for drinking water, wastewater and stormwater infrastructure; setting standards for protecting water quality and regulating municipal, and industrial discharges of pollutants to waters; working to control nonpoint sources of pollution; monitoring conditions of surface water, watersheds, beaches and coastal and ocean waters; and implementing programs to preserve healthy watersheds and to restore impaired waters.

Climate change alters the hydrological cycle, changing the background conditions in which natural and man-made systems function. Changes have already been observed and are expected to continue, such as warming air and water, changes in the location and amount of rain and snow, increased intensity of rainfall and tropical storms, sea level rise, changes in ocean chemistry, and indirect effects related to energy generation and fuel production.<sup>17</sup>

While there is relatively high confidence in our ability to project temperature increases due to climate change, projected changes in precipitation and its effects on hydrology at the local scale

are less certain. Therefore, a key challenge will be how to help local decision makers understand potential local impacts, and how to make long-term plans under a new range of uncertainty about future hydrologic conditions. Water resource managers will also need to consider the local impacts of climate change as they grapple with other challengesincluding population growth, land use changes,

#### Climate Change Impacts on Water

Climate change impacts include too little water in some places, too much water in other places, and degraded water quality. Some locations will be subject to all of these conditions during different times of the year. Water cycle changes are expected to continue and will affect water infrastructure, energy production and use, human health, transportation, agriculture, and ecosystems. Source: USGCRP, "Global Climate Change Impacts in the U.S." (2009), Water Sector, at: http://globalchange.gov/publications/report s/scientific-assessments/usimpacts/climate-change-impacts-bysector/water-resources



Photo: www.water.ky.gov

economic constraints, and a variety of stressors to the quality and quantity of our nations waters.

# Protection of water quality, and restoration and protection of watersheds, wetlands, oceans, and aquatic ecosystems will be greatly challenged by changes in climate throughout the

**United States.** EPA, working with its state, tribal, and local partners, is responsible for developing and implementing a portfolio of regulatory and non-regulatory programs to protect and improve water quality in the nation's watersheds and estuarine, coastal and ocean waters. As better information is developed for local decision making, changes may be needed in how EPA and our partners implement water quality programs, including Water Quality Standards, Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDL), Effluent Guidelines, National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES), nonpoint pollution control programs, and other watershed management programs.

The potential vulnerabilities of EPA's water quality programs to climate change include:

- Higher air and water temperatures will increase pollutant concentrations and lower dissolved oxygen levels, potentially resulting in additional water bodies not meeting water quality standards and being listed as impaired.
- Higher air and water temperatures combined with nutrient pollution will increase the incidence of Harmful Algal Blooms, threatening ecosystems and public health.

- Warmer waters and other ecological shifts will threaten aquatic habitats and aquatic species, such as cold water fisheries, with the potential for significant impacts on subsistence fishing tribes.
- Increased intensity of rainfall events and storms will cause an increase in the number of sewer overflows and wastewater bypasses, fouling streams.
- Increased intensity of rainfall events and storms will cause increased pollutant loads in runoff, and the velocity of runoff will scour and erode creek beds.
- Areas experiencing periods of less precipitation, drought, lower stream flow and limited ground water recharge will result in less water flow for dilution of permitted discharges, alterations of aquatic environments, and increased impairments. Competition will be exacerbated for limited water supplies for municipal, industrial, energy, agricultural, and ecological uses.
- Areas with increased intensity of drought or that may experience increases in events such as wildfires may see alterations in the structure and function of wetlands and watersheds.
- Sea-level rise combined with coastal development will challenge the ability of coastal wetlands to migrate.
- Ocean acidification resulting from the absorption of CO<sub>2</sub> will continue to stress coral reefs.
- As the nation pursues alternative strategies for producing energy and fuel, both to reduce greenhouse gases and to increase energy independence, local or regional demand for limited water supplies for energy and fuel production may increase, placing additional pressures on water quality programs.
- The ecological effects of climate change, such as shifts in aquatic species and their habitats or the quality of snowpack, are likely to affect the economic and cultural practices of tribal communities.
- Sea level rise and coastal surges increase erosion that can affect coastal zones that support aquatic species.

**Climate change will have a significant impact on water infrastructure.** In most of the United States, we enjoy the benefits of clean and safe water resulting from an extensive network of drinking water, wastewater and stormwater infrastructure. EPA recognizes that this infrastructure is aging and is being further taxed by the impacts of climate change. Additionally, as state, tribal and local governments face more demands for increasingly limited resources, the ability to respond to these growing infrastructure pressures becomes more complicated. Climate change will create vulnerabilities in the nation's infrastructure system in the following ways:

 Changes in rainfall patterns beyond the design capacity of drinking water, wastewater and stormwater infrastructure, or flooding due to increased intensity of storms, could overwhelm and damage infrastructure.

- Sea-level rise could affect water infrastructure, including drinking water intakes and wastewater outfalls, and could push saline water into coastal aquifers. Combined with tropical storms and associated storm surges, the integrity of coastal water infrastructure systems may be at increased risk.
- Drinking water and wastewater utilities need to take an "all hazards" approach to planning for emergencies and extreme weather events, which may be impacted by climate change. In order to support the efforts of such utilities, it is important for EPA guidance, tools, and technical support to also support this all hazards approach.
- Vulnerable and economically deprived communities may be particularly at risk, both for access to clean and safe water as well as for their ability to respond to emergencies during extreme events.

**Climate change will affect the quality and availability of drinking water supplies.** More than 290 million people living in the United States rely on the safety of tap water provided by public water systems that are subject to national drinking water standards. EPA ensures that these water systems are sustainable and secure by developing and revising water standards, ensuring compliance with these standards, and protecting sources of drinking water from contamination.

EPA's role in drinking water is solely to protect the quality of what Americans consume. EPA does not have a direct role in ensuring adequate water supplies. However, changes in water quantity may affect water quality. The issue of water quantity is a significant issue for many communities, and will be increasingly so especially in the west and southeast. We can expect increasing numbers of communities grappling with increased drought, reduced snow pack, and challenges to water supplies. Such communities will be faced with managing competition between municipal supplies, energy production, industrial use, agricultural use, and ecological needs, and it is likely that EPA and our partners will be called on to address water quality issues in this context.

EPA has identified a number of areas where its programs designed to protect drinking water are vulnerable to climate change. These vulnerabilities include:

- Higher air and water temperatures will promote increased growth of algae and microbes, which will increase the need for drinking water treatment.
- Changes in water temperature can lead to increased risk from invasive species that can disrupt water and waste water systems.
- Increased stormwater runoff will wash sediment and other contaminants into drinking water sources, requiring additional treatment.

- Sea-level rise could increase the salinity of both surface water and ground water through saltwater intrusion, encroaching upon coastal drinking water supplies.
- Reduced annual precipitation or increased intensity and duration of drought in some regions will affect water supplies, causing drinking water providers to reassess supply plans and consider alternative pricing, allocation and water conservation options.
- Warming temperatures will cause precipitation in some areas to increasingly fall as rain rather than snow. Combined with seasonal shifts in springtime snowmelt, areas relying on snowpack to serve as a water 'reservoir' may need to develop new plans for ensuring water supplies.
- In areas with loss of snowpack or less precipitation, water demand may shift to underground aquifers or prompt development of underground storage of treated water, which will require EPA to assure the safety of such underground sources of drinking water.

# 2.2.3 Goal 3: Cleaning Up Communities and Advancing Sustainable Development

EPA's highest priorities under this goal are to prevent and reduce exposure to contaminants and accelerate the pace of cleanups across contaminated sites and properties, including Brownfields, Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) Corrective Action Facilities, Superfund sites and Leaking Underground Storage Tanks.<sup>18</sup>

A range of major climate change stressors may affect contaminated sites, which in turn could affect how EPA addresses contamination and manages cleanups. In order to understand the potential impacts to these sites, EPA has begun to use broad screening analysis mapping to identify the sites most likely threatened by climate change impacts. EPA has a general understanding of the potential vulnerabilities at these sites. Key vulnerabilities identified by EPA include:

# Flooding from more intense and frequent storms and sea-level rise may lead to contaminant releases from Corrective Action sites, Superfund sites, Brownfield sites and landfills.

Inundation and flooding may lead to transport of contaminants through surface soils, ground water, surface waters and/or coastal waters. Saltwater intrusion and increased ground water salinity in coastal aquifers may also increase the permeability of clay liners installed at waste sites, such as landfills, allowing contaminants to spread to nearby properties. These contaminant releases may pose an increased risk of adverse health and environmental impacts.

Changes in precipitation patterns and temperature may adversely affect the performance of the cleanup remedy and alter the efficacy of cleanups. To

the extent that climate change leads to more prolonged droughts, waterintensive remedies may be impacted and the risk of wildfires spreading to contaminated sites may increase. Changes in precipitation may affect the rate at which vegetation grows at various sites and may affect phytoremediation and ecological revitalization efforts. The impacts may be positive or negative,



depending on conditions at each site. Ground water processes may also be altered, resulting in potential adverse impacts on the performance and cost of remediation. To the extent that temperatures increase with climate change, contaminants at cleanup sites may become more volatile, increasing risks for local populations. The extent of this effect will depend on the contaminants at individual sites.

Climate change may also affect the ability of EPA's emergency management workforce to respond to natural disasters. If contamination occurs because of climate change, OSWER has significant capabilities to respond and minimize exposure to human populations and ecosystems. Several of EPA's programs perform these functions, including the Oil Spill Response Program and Superfund Emergency Response. These programs provide an institutional framework to use and build upon when responding to climate change impacts. When responding to emergencies, EPA often coordinates with other Federal agencies, as well as state, tribal and local organizations. These organizations will be important partners in EPA's work responding to natural disasters of increased severity and frequency.

Flooding from more intense and frequent storms and sea-level rise may disrupt existing waste management networks Flooding from sea level rise or severe storms may disrupt the transportation system in place to handle waste. For example, flooding may disrupt the pick-up of waste in neighborhoods and business or the work performed at transfer stations. Cities with transfer stations along waterways are at particular risk. A major storm event may increase the amount of solid waste generated and lead to the release of fuel or hazardous materials. Smaller entities with hazardous materials may lack resources for emergency planning, which may increase the risk of abandoned hazardous materials during a flooding or storm event. Changes in precipitation may impact waste management practices such as composting by affecting biological processes.

## 2.2.4 Goal 4: Ensuring the Safety of Chemicals and Preventing Pollution

A major component of EPA's mission is ensuring the safety of chemicals. Increasingly, the chemicals used to make our products, build our homes, and support our way of life end up in the environment and in our bodies. A changing climate can affect exposures to a wide range of chemicals. Exposures may change because of changing environmental conditions or changing use

## Impact of Climate Change on Pesticide Exposure Models

Many of EPA's tools and models for examining exposure to chemicals rely on inputs that are sensitive to climate data (*e.g.*, changing weather patterns, temperatures, stream flow rates, air currents and precipitation rates). EPA is in



Photo: U.S. EPA

the early stages of examining the vulnerability of its models to climate change, beginning with a review of its pesticide exposure models. Source: U.S. EPA, Memorandum: Transmittal of Meeting Minutes of the FIFRA Scientific Advisory Panel (SAP) held December 7, 2010, on Pesticide Exposure Modeling and Climate Change, March 3, 2011. SAP minutes, No. 2011-01.

patterns. EPA's efforts to reduce exposures may be affected.

EPA relies heavily on tools and models to help estimate exposures to chemicals when monitoring data are unavailable. The Agency is in the early stages of examining the ways in which its models may have to be updated to account for climate change. It has begun with a review of the potential implications of climate change for its current approaches to evaluating pesticide exposures to people and the environment.<sup>19</sup> These approaches are currently and will continue to be used to assess exposures to the general population, as well as children, agricultural workers and other groups who may be disproportionally affected.

EPA consulted with the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act (FIFRA) Scientific Advisory Panel (SAP) to provide guidance on its model review and preliminary conclusions, and on sources of information that may help fill knowledge gaps. The SAP concluded that climate change is likely to affect future decisions because of

its impact on pest pressure, how and where pesticides are used, and the quantity of pesticides used. Since EPA reviews pesticide registrations every 15 years using assessment methodologies that are conservative and protective of human health and the environment, it is expected that the assessments, and decisions based on them, will remain protective. However, the SAP also concluded that weather data used in models that estimate pesticide exposure are becoming dated, and thus may not adequately reflect recent changes in climate. Some of EPA's exposure models that

#### **Climate Change and FIFRA**

An increase in the frequency of emergency pest problems could lead to an increase in the need for emergency exemptions under the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act (FIFRA) if currently registered pesticides are ineffective. This would allow for the use of chemicals which are not registered.

contain climate-related variables may have to be updated as weather patterns, temperatures, stream flow rates, air currents, precipitation rates, and other climate variables continue to change.

The Agency has not yet conducted vulnerability assessments of the potential impacts of climate change on exposures of people and the environment to other types of chemicals. For example, there may be increased risk of exposure to lead and asbestos as homes, buildings, and other community infrastructure are damaged by fires, high winds, and flood events. Similarly, climate change may lead to the development of new chemicals submitted for Agency review that have uses for water purification and desalinization, wastewater treatment, antimicrobial disinfection, and disease prevention. EPA will explore the need for future assessments that evaluate potential impacts like these.

## 2.2.5 Goal 5: Enforcing Environmental Laws

EPA protects human health and the environment through vigorous and targeted civil and criminal enforcement and by ensuring compliance with environmental laws. Climate change may affect decisions related to the enforcement of environmental laws. For example:

 The risks posed by climate change may affect decisions by EPA about where resources should be allocated to ensure compliance with rules or regulations it believes to be priorities. These enforcement priorities may be derived from a variety of sources, ranging from the Administrator's identified goals for EPA, to program-specific guidance memoranda to assist enforcement personnel in selecting appropriate enforcement mechanisms depending on site-specific circumstances.  A flood, hurricane or wildfire can swiftly divert the Agency's focus.<sup>20</sup> If climate change leads to more intense weather events and increases EPA's involvement in disaster response and remediation, then enforcement efforts (as well as efforts in other EPA programs) could be affected due to a scarcity of available staff and resources.

#### 2.2.6 EPA's Facilities and Operations

EPA must ensure the security of its personnel, the safe and continued operation of its buildings and other critical assets (*e.g.*, vehicles), and the integrity of its grants and procurement systems.

In the event of any **EPA's Gulf Ecology Division Laboratory** catastrophic weather event, When Hurricane Ivan tore through Florida's Gulf Coast in September 2004, it served as a powerful reminder to EPA's Gulf Ecology Division Laboratory facilities that intelligent EPA's people, facility design in the 21<sup>st</sup> century requires the highest standards for safety and durability, buildings and as well as sustainability. Located on Sabine Island, a 16-acre patch of land off the coast of operations the Florida Panhandle, the laboratory campus was especially vulnerable to the could be hurricane's devastating winds and rain. In the wake of the storm, six of the 40 buildings affected. Based at the campus were destroyed and had to be temporarily replaced with modular on the potential structures. In 2008, these buildings were permanently replaced with a new Computational and for climate Geospatial Sciences Building. This facility was designed to meet the Florida Building change to alter Code, which requires stringent hurricane mitigation techniques. It has also earned the water supplies U.S. Green Building Council's Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED<sup>®</sup>) and increase Silver 2.2 certification for New Construction. This building meets the demands of its the frequency environment in a sustainable manner. and severity of (Source: "Sustainable Facilities at EPA: Computational and Geospatial Science Building, Gulf Breeze, Florida," U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EPA-200-F-09-002, Washington, extreme DC, 2009.) weather events, EPA has

identified the following vulnerabilities to the Agency's continued safe and efficient operations:

**Increased frequency and severity of extreme weather events may affect Agency facilities, personnel safety, physical security and emergency communications.** Some extreme weather events are expected to become more commonplace as the climate changes, increasing the occurrence of flooding, heat waves, lightning and high winds. An increase in these events would increase the risk to EPA's personnel in the field and EPA facilities. EPA has begun to assess these vulnerabilities and has identified the following areas of potential impact:

• Severe weather and flooding could cause damage to EPA facilities, especially in coastal areas. The Agency has already seen such damage to its Gulf Ecology Division Laboratory in

Florida. Sea Level rise could also impact low lying coastal facilities and their access roads, especially when coupled with storm surges and flooding.

- Extreme weather events, including severe winds and lightning could cause damage to EPA's long-term environmental monitoring assets, particularly in coastal and flood prone areas. The Agency has already seen such damage to equipment at sites in the Clean Air Status and Trends Network and the National Atmospheric Deposition Program.
- Seasonal temperature changes and changing weather patterns can affect air quality and the general comfort of outdoor activities. Extreme heat, bad air quality or other weather conditions exacerbated by climate change may increase the health risks of EPA employees and contractors engaged in field work, such as sampling, remediation and inspections.
- Severe winds, lightning and other extreme weather events could cause power outages that disrupt EPA's security systems, outdoor lighting and emergency communication systems. Some of these systems are not linked to an uninterruptible power supply or backup generators. Outdoor lighting and security cameras are also vulnerable to direct impacts from high winds and other severe weather.

An increase in the number of extreme weather events could affect planning and management of emergency operations. During and after extreme weather events, EPA employees and contractors are dispatched to assess impacts to the environment and human health. The Agency also awards acquisitions and grants to support stakeholder emergency response. An increase in extreme weather events could result in the following impacts:

- An increase in the occurrence of extreme weather events may affect the availability of the Agency's personnel and resources to support the dispatch of emergency management personnel to assess environmental damage and test sites for air quality, water quality and other human health and environmental threats. At the same time, EPA personnel would increasingly be drawn away from their normal day-to-day activities to respond to extreme weather events or emergencies.
- Changing weather patterns and weather events may increase the demand for protective gear and appropriate vehicles and vessels to meet the demands of extreme working conditions during research, field work, and emergency management.
- EPA continues to award and manage acquisitions and grants during severe weather events; both those that are required for ongoing needs and those required for emergencies. An increase in such events could affect EPA's ability to assess contractor readiness and capabilities, process and award contracts, provide financial assistance, enter into interagency agreements and train essential personnel.

**Changing water supplies may compromise the quality of water used at EPA facilities.** Shifts in snowpack in some regions of the country could mean a change in the disposition of water supplies and potentially compromise the quality of water available to the Agency. EPA laboratories require water to conduct experiments and meet building cooling requirements. Water shortages and quality issues could have significant impacts on the Agency's ability to manage its facilities and conduct important research, particularly in drought-prone regions.

# 2.3 Climate Change Impacts on the Most Vulnerable Communities

Climate change will have a disproportionate effect on particular geographic locations, communities, and demographic groups.

The impacts of climate change raise environmental justice issues. Environmental justice focuses on the health of and environmental conditions affecting minority, low-income, and indigenous populations. EPA places emphasis on these populations because they have historically been exposed to a combination of physical, chemical, biological, social, and cultural factors that have imposed greater environmental burdens on them than those imposed on the general population. Climate change is likely to exacerbate existing and introduce new environmental burdens and associated health impacts in communities dealing with environmental justice challenges across the nation.<sup>21</sup> EPA's *Policy Statement on Climate Change Adaptation* calls on the Agency to focus on incorporating consideration of environmental justice into the design and evaluation of adaptation strategies.

The populations most vulnerable to climate change often include, but are not limited to, the communities that are the focus of EPA's environmental justice program. Children, the elderly, the poor, the infirm, and tribal and indigenous populations are among the most vulnerable.<sup>22</sup> For example, children living and playing outdoors in regions with higher ozone levels resulting from increased temperature will be at higher risk for experiencing asthma symptoms and exacerbations. The elderly are more vulnerable to heat stress because they are often in poorer health, have debilitating chronic diseases and are less able to regulate their body temperature during periods of extreme heat. They may also be taking medications that increase risk for dehydration and may live alone or have fewer social contacts, which may further exacerbate their vulnerabilities.<sup>23</sup> Economic constraints can also place low-income households at disproportionate risk to extreme heat events due to lack of air conditioning or failure to use air-conditioning to cut down on associated energy costs.<sup>24</sup>

EPA has a special obligation to work consultatively with the tribes to help them as sovereign governments address their climate adaptation concerns. EPA's 1984 *Policy for the Administration of Environmental Programs on Indian Reservations* directs the Agency to work

"in a manner consistent with the overall Federal position in support of Tribal 'self-government' and 'government-to-government' relations between Federal and Tribal Governments."

EPA is committed to integrating environmental justice and climate adaptation into its programs, policies, rules and operations in such a way that to the extent possible, it effectively protects all demographic groups, geographic locations and communities, and natural resources that are most vulnerable to climate change. The Agency will place special emphasis on overburdened populations that are least able to help themselves, and work in partnership with them to empower them to effectively adapt to climate change.

#### **Coastal Climate Change Impacts on Low-Income Minority Communities**

Climate change will affect certain groups of people more than others, depending on where they live and their ability to cope with different climate hazards. For example, a combination of sea level rise and land subsidence in coastal Louisiana has increased the area's vulnerability to storm surge and hurricane damage.<sup>1,2</sup> Hurricane Katrina , though not necessarily directly a result of climate change, provides an illustrative example of how storm surges can result in catastrophic effects for coastal communities and how social vulnerabilities can manifest in the form of unequal access to resources and of vulnerabilities. Barriers for the community to respond to Katrina included the lack of material resources, such as cash and access to transportation, for evacuation purposes.<sup>3,4,5</sup> These factors contributed to disproportionate impacts on minority and low-income communities in New Orleans. For example, African Americans were overrepresented in mortality rates in all age categories compared to their proportion of the pre-Katrina population.<sup>6</sup> The impacts of Hurricane Katrina were devastating and highlight the environmental as well as social vulnerabilities of coastline communities.

- SOURCES: USGCRP (2009). Global Climate Change Impacts in the United States . Karl, T.R., J.M. Melillo, and T.C. Peterson (eds.). United States Global Change Research Program. Cambridge University Press, New York, NY, USA.
- CCSP (2008). Impacts of Climate Change and Variability on Transportation Systems and Infrastructure: Gulf Coast Study, Phase I. A Report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the Subcommittee on Global Change Research. Savonis, M. J., V.R. Burkett, and J.R. Potter (eds.). Department of Transportation, Washington, DC, USA, 445 pp.
- 3. Elliott, James R. and Jeremy Pais. 2006. "Race, class, and Hurricane Katrina: Social Differences in Human Responses to Disaster," Social Science Research, 35: 295-321.
- 4. Fothergill, A., and L. Peek. 2004. "Poverty and disasters in the United States: A review of recent sociological findings." *Natural Hazards Journal* 32(1): 89-110.
- 5. Berube, A., and B. Katz. 2005 "Katrina's Window: Confronting Concentrated Poverty Across America." The Brookings Institution Special Analysis in Metropolitan Policy.
- 6. Sharkey, P. 2007. Survival and Death in New Orleans: An Empirical Look at the Human Impact of Katrina. Journal of Black Studies, 37: 482–501.

#### **Climate Change Impacts on Tribal Communities**

Indigenous people are among the most vulnerable communities in North America.<sup>1</sup> Tribes are more vulnerable to climate change impacts because of their dependence upon a specific geographic area for their livelihoods, the degree to which those geographic areas embody climate-sensitive environments, and their unique cultural, economic, or political characteristics and contexts. Also, tribes generally have fewer resources to prepare for, respond to, and recover from natural hazards, including those related to climate change.<sup>2</sup> The disproportionate vulnerability of tribes to climate change affects EPA's mission to protect human health and the environment in Indian country.

Examples of the impacts climate change is already having on tribes include:

- The coastal Inupiat village of Shismaref Alaska is one of many coastal villages in Alaska facing relocation due to threats from flooding and erosion related to a rise in sea level and a decrease in sea ice. Sea walls have been broken and homes washed away. Residents have decided to relocate farther inland for safety, giving up their traditional fishing, sealing, and home-building sites.<sup>3</sup>
- Drought is perhaps the most pervasive climate-induced weather impact on tribes. Water is at the heart of many tribal cultures and the foundation of their livelihoods, economies, subsistence, and treaty rights. Water is essential to the sustainability of the fish, wildlife, and plants on which tribes rely. The recent trend toward more severe and frequent droughts, especially in the American Southwest, threatens the very underpinnings of tribal communities. The Southwest is already in the midst of a 10-15 year drought, and climate projections suggest the Southwest may transition to a more arid climate on a permanent basis over the next century and beyond.<sup>4</sup> In fact, climate observations indicate that this transition may have already begun.<sup>5</sup>
- Moose, a species important to many tribes in the Great Lakes region, are suffering the impacts of warmer weather. In a recent study of moose at the southern edge of their range in northwest Minnesota, researchers found that over the past 40 years, declines in the moose population are related to increases in mean temperature with winter and summer temperatures increasing by an average of 12°F and 4°F, respectively, over this period. Lack of food resources and increased exposure to deer parasites associated with warmer summer temperatures appear to be the primary causes of more decline.<sup>6</sup>

#### Sources:

1. M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani, J.P. Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden and C.E. Hanson (eds). Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2007. "Climate Change 2007: Working Group II: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability." *Cambridge University Press*, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 2007.

2. Cutter, S.L. and C. Finch. 2008. "Temporal and spatial changes in social vulnerability to natural hazards." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science* 105(7): 2301-2306.

3. National Research Council, *Adapting to the Impacts of Climate Change*, America's Climate Choices: Panel on Adapting to the Impacts of Climate Change, The National Academies Press, Washington, DC, 2010.

4. Solomon, S., G-K Plattner, R. Knutti, and P. Friedlingstein, 2009. Irreversible climate change due to carbon dioxide emissions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(6): 1,704-1,709. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0812721106; Johanson, C.M., and Q. Fu, 2009: Hadley Cell Widening: Model Simulations versus Observations. *Journal of Climate*, 22:2,713–2,725.

5. Seager, R., et al., 2007. Model Projections of an Imminent Transition to a More Arid Climate in Southwestern North America. *Science*, 316: 1,181-1,184.

6. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. *Rising to the Urgent Challenge: Strategic Plan for Responding to Accelerating Climate Change* http://www.fws.gov/home/climatechange/pdf/CCStrategicPlan.pdf

# 2.4 Summary of Key Areas of Known Vulnerability

The current list of known vulnerabilities of EPA's programs to climate change are summarized in the table at the end of this report. The vulnerabilities listed in the table help to guide the Agency in identifying areas to focus its adaptation planning efforts. For several of the vulnerabilities, current scientific understanding is that the climate impact is likely or very likely to occur and EPA's best judgment is that there is a high likelihood the program will be affected. The Agency, as part of its efforts to mainstream adaptation into its programs (addressed in Part 3 of this document), will conduct a more comprehensive vulnerability assessment to determine which programs and areas are most suitable to initiate action.

This qualitative assessment has been done at a national level. It identifies vulnerabilities to entire programs within EPA to help focus the Agency's climate adaptation efforts. However, there is a "regional texture" to the impacts of climate change. The severity and importance of known vulnerabilities will vary across regions. The forthcoming *Implementation Plans* that will be produced by every EPA Regional Office will capture the regional differences and identify the vulnerabilities of greatest importance, including identifying the most vulnerable people and places within these programs. They will then describe how climate change adaptation will be integrated into their planning and work in a manner consistent and compatible with their own circumstances and objectives.

## **Endnotes**

<sup>1</sup> Thomas R. Karl, Jerry M. Melillo, and Thomas C. Peterson, eds., *Global Climate Change Impacts in the United States* (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, 2009), http://downloads.globalchange.gov/usimpacts/pdfs/climate-impacts-report.pdf.

<sup>2</sup> Thomas R. Karl, Jerry M. Melillo, and Thomas C. Peterson, eds., *Global Climate Change Impacts in the United States* (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, 2009), http://downloads.globalchange.gov/usimpacts/pdfs/climate-impacts-report.pdf

http://downloads.globalchange.gov/usimpacts/pdfs/climate-impacts-report.pdf.

<sup>3</sup> Thomas R. Karl, Jerry M. Melillo, and Thomas C. Peterson, eds., *Global Climate Change Impacts in the United States* (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, 2009), http://downloads.globalchange.gov/usimpacts/pdfs/climate-impacts-report.pdf.

<sup>4</sup> *Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability,* Parry, M.L., Canziani, O. F., Palutikof, J. P., van der Linden, P. J., et. al., contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 2007, "Summary for Policy Makers" (2007), 11-12.

<sup>5</sup> Thomas R. Karl, Jerry M. Melillo, and Thomas C. Peterson, eds., *Global Climate Change Impacts in the United States* (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, 2009), 89–106, http://downloads.globalchange.gov/usimpacts/pdfs/climate-impacts-report.pdf.

<sup>6</sup> U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Policy Statement on Climate-Change Adaptation*, June 2, 2011, http://epa.gov/climatechange/Downloads/impacts-adaptation/adaptation-statement.pdf.

<sup>7</sup> While the discussion of vulnerabilities is organized by goal, some of the impacts of climate change are expected to cut across goals. For example, climate change may increase the number of weather-related emergencies to which the Agency is called to respond, potentially drawing staff from multiple locations and program areas. Staff participating in emergency response work would be unavailable to complete their normal program responsibilities. Climate change is also expected to affect many of the models that EPA programs and the states use to make environmental decisions.

<sup>8</sup> Denman, K.L., et al. (2007). Couplings Between Changes in the Climate System and Biogeochemistry. In: Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor and H.L. Miller (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.

<sup>9</sup> U.S. EPA (2009). Assessment of the Impacts of Global Change on Regional U.S. Air Quality: A Synthesis of Climate Change Impacts on Ground-Level Ozone. An Interim Report of the U.S. EPA Global Change Research Program. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC, EPA/600/R-07/094F.

<sup>10</sup> Katsouyanni, K., et al.; HEI Health Review Committee (2009). Air pollution and health: a European and North American approach (APHENA). Research Report Health Effects Institute. 2009 Oct;(142):5-90.

<sup>11</sup> U.S. EPA. Air Quality Criteria for Ozone and Related Photochemical Oxidants (2006 Final). U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC, EPA/600/R-05/004aF-cF, 2006.

<sup>12</sup> Committee on Environment and Natural Resources, "Scientific Assessment of the Effects of Global Change on the United States" (Committee on Environment and Natural Resources of the National Science and Technology Council, U.S. Climate Change Science Program, 2008), http://www.climatescience.gov/Library/scientific-assessment/Scientific-AssessmentFINAL.pdf.

<sup>13</sup> C.B. Field et al., "North America," Chapter 14 in *Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability,* Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, ed. M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani, J.P. Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden and C.E. Hanson (Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press, 2007).

<sup>14</sup> Institute of Medicine, *Climate Change, the Indoor Environment, and Health* (Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 2011).

<sup>15</sup> World Meteorological Organization, *Scientific Assessment of Ozone Depletion: 2010*, Global Ozone Research and Monitoring Project—Report No. 52 (Geneva, Switzerland, 2011).

<sup>16</sup> Burns, D.A., Lynch, J.A., Cosby, B.J., Fenn, M.E., Baron, J.S., US EPA Clean Air Markets Div., 2011, National Acid Precipitation Assessment Program Report to Congress 2011: An Integrated Assessment, National Science and Technology Council, Washington, DC, 114 p.

<sup>17</sup> "Global Climate Change Impacts in the U.S." (2009), Water Sector, at: <u>http://globalchange.gov/publications/reports/scientific-assessments/us-impacts/climate-change-impacts-by-sector/water-resources</u>.

<sup>18</sup> There may be additional sites not included in this list that occur as a result of emergency response activities or unanticipated events.

<sup>19</sup> Conclusions from EPA consultations with the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act (FIFRA) Scientific Advisory Panel (SAP), a panel of external experts established under FIFRA to provide the Agency with advice on pesticide-related science matters.

<sup>20</sup> U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "FY 2011-2015 EPA Strategic Plan, Achieving our Vision" (2011), 43, http://epa.gov/planandbudget/strategicplan.html. <sup>21</sup> Thomas R. Karl, Jerry M. Melillo, and Thomas C. Peterson, eds., *Global Climate Change Impacts in the United States* (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, 2009), 89–106,

http://downloads.globalchange.gov/usimpacts/pdfs/climate-impacts-report.pdf.

<sup>22</sup> Thomas R. Karl, Jerry M. Melillo, and Thomas C. Peterson, eds., *Global Climate Change Impacts in the United States* (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, 2009), 89–106, http://downloads.globalchange.gov/usimpacts/pdfs/climate-impacts-report.pdf.

<sup>23</sup> G. Luber et al., "Climate Change and Extreme Heat Events," Am J Prev Med 35(5), August 2008.

<sup>24</sup> Thomas R. Karl, Jerry M. Melillo, and Thomas C. Peterson, eds., *Global Climate Change Impacts in the United States* (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, 2009), 89–106, http://downloads.globalchange.gov/usimpacts/pdfs/climate-impacts-report.pdf.

# Part 3: Mainstreaming Climate Change Adaptation in EPA

# 3.1 Building Adaptive Capacity

EPA's *Policy Statement on Climate-Change Adaptation* acknowledges the importance of adapting to climate change if the Agency is to continue fulfilling its statutory, regulatory and programmatic requirements. It is vital that the EPA anticipate and plan for future changes in climate and incorporate considerations of climate change into many of its programs, policies,

rules and operations to ensure they remain effective under future climatic conditions.<sup>1</sup>

Climate change is one of many factors that can influence the effectiveness of EPA's activities over time. It is essential the Agency account for climate change as it designs its programs,

EPA will continue to protect human health and the environment, but in a way that accounts for the effects of climate change.

policies and rules, in the same way other factors such as population growth and economic development are regularly considered. EPA will integrate, or mainstream, climate change adaptation by strengthening the adaptive capacity of its own staff. EPA will empower them to account for climate change in the normal course of doing business. It will increase staff's awareness of ways that climate change may affect their ability to implement effective programs, and provide them with the necessary data, information and tools to integrate climate adaptation into the work they do.

EPA will work to strengthen partners' adaptive capacities. The Agency will work with its state, tribal and local partners and will strive to ensure that to the greatest extent possible, their human health and environmental protection programs become resilient as the climate changes. This is particularly important since the Agency authorizes many states and tribes to implement various environmental programs. Also, EPA's efforts to help communities become more environmentally and economically sustainable could be affected by climate change. EPA will need to ensure that its tools, research, and technical assistance evolve to help communities and other entities take projected climate changes into account as they plan development. International partnerships and collaboration on adaptation will also be important to address the transboundary impacts of climate change.

The Agency's investment in building adaptive capacity is an ongoing effort. It will require a sustained, long-term commitment to empower EPA's workforce and partners by providing the information and tools necessary to account for climate change.

# **3.2 Guiding Principles for Adaptation at EPA**

EPA has adopted a set of principles to guide all of its efforts to integrate climate adaptation into its programs, policies and rules. The principles affirm EPA's approach of integrating climate adaptation into existing programs and activities to ensure their effectiveness as the climate changes. They uphold EPA's core values of using the best available science, protecting populations and locations most vulnerable to climate change, and using sensible analytic methods and approaches for developing and implementing adaptation strategies. EPA has an important and unique role in climate adaptation, but is only one partner in a broader effort that must include multiple levels of government, as well as private, nongovernmental, and international partners. The principles call for ongoing evaluation of the effectiveness of climate change adaptation approaches, recognizing that the Agency will continue to learn how to adapt effectively over time.

#### **Guiding Principles for Adaptation**

- Adopt integrated approaches: Adaptation should be incorporated into core policies, planning, practices and programs whenever possible.
- Prioritize the most vulnerable: Adaptation plans should prioritize helping people, places and infrastructure that are most vulnerable to climate impacts and be designed and implemented with meaningful involvement from all parts of society.
- Use best-available science: Adaptation should be grounded in the best-available scientific understanding of climate change risks, impacts and vulnerabilities.
- Build strong partnerships: Adaptation requires coordination across multiple sectors and scales and should build on the existing efforts and knowledge of a wide range of public and private stakeholders.
- Apply risk-management methods and tools: Adaptation planning should incorporate risk-management methods and tools to help identify, assess and prioritize options to reduce vulnerability to potential environmental, social and economic implications of climate change.
- Apply ecosystem-based approaches: Adaptation should, where relevant, take into account strategies to
  increase ecosystem resilience and protect critical ecosystem services on which humans depend to reduce
  vulnerability of human and natural systems to climate change.
- Maximize mutual benefits: Adaptation should, where possible, use strategies that complement or directly support other related climate or environmental initiatives, such as efforts to improve disaster preparedness, promote sustainable resource management, and reduce greenhouse gas emissions including the development of cost-effective technologies.
- Continuously evaluate performance: Adaptation plans should include measureable goals and performance metrics to continuously assess whether adaptive actions are achieving desired outcomes.

(Source: The White House Council on Environmental Quality, "Progress Report of the Interagency Climate Change Adaptation Task Force: Recommended Actions in Support of a National Climate Change Adaptation Strategy," October 5, 2010, http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/microsites/ceq/Interagency-Climate-Change-Adaptation-Progress-Report.pdf.)

# 3.3 Agency-wide Priorities

EPA has identified priority actions it will take to begin integrating climate change adaptation into its programs, policies, rules and operations. These priorities represent EPA's commitment to address the known vulnerabilities of its mission to climate change, and to continue to identify other vulnerabilities its programs may have to climate change.

#### **Agency-wide Priorities**

- Fulfill Strategic Measures in FY 2011–2015 EPA Strategic Plan
- Protect Agency facilities and operations
- Factor legal considerations into adaptation efforts
- Strengthen adaptive capacity of EPA staff and partners through training
- Develop decision-support tools that enable EPA staff and partners to integrate climate adaptation planning into their work
- Identify cross-EPA science needs related to climate adaptation
- Partner with tribes to increase adaptive capacity
- Focus on most vulnerable people and places
- Measure and evaluate performance
- Develop Program and Regional Office Implementation Plans

#### 3.3.1 Priority: Fulfill Strategic Measures in FY 2011-2015 EPA Strategic Plan

EPA expects that its understanding of how to integrate climate adaptation into its programs, policies, rules and operations will improve over time. The FY 2011–2015 EPA *Strategic Plan* identified three initial mechanisms through which the Agency will begin mainstreaming climate adaptation by 2015:<sup>2</sup>

#### Strategic Measures in FY 2011-2015 EPA Strategic Plan

#### <u>By 2015</u>:

- 1. Integrate climate change adaptation into rulemaking processes.
- 2. Integrate climate adaptation into financial mechanisms.
- 3. Develop decision-support tools.
- 1. Integration of climate change adaptation into rulemaking processes: EPA will integrate climate change trend and scenario information into five rulemaking processes to further EPA's mission, consistent with existing authorities. The integration of climate adaptation

into Agency rulemaking processes will help ensure the rules are effective as the climate changes.<sup>3</sup> A variety of "entry points" can be considered, including the development of the rule itself; related policy and guidance development; and post-rule permitting, monitoring and enforcement.

EPA will enhance the ability of rule makers to address the implications of climate change through updates to the Action Development Process (ADP). This process was developed by EPA to guide the Agency's rulemaking activities from the start of the rulemaking process through the analysis of regulatory options to the final publication of a regulation. EPA will integrate climate adaptation into the ADP by:

- Identifying process points where climate change adaptation considerations need to be identified, analyzed and discussed. The rulemaking process<sup>4</sup> includes opportunities to discuss climate change adaptation considerations, both internally and with stakeholders. An Analytic Blueprint spells out a workgroup's plan for data collection and analyses to support development of a specific action. The development of an Analytic Blueprint provides an early opportunity to articulate any climate change adaptation issues that need analysis.
- Developing guidance documents and training rule writers to understand the implications of climate change impacts. EPA has guidance on addressing children's health and environmental justice for all of its rulemakings. EPA will develop a similar guide for climate change adaptation, and provide training. This will improve the regulatory work groups' understanding of

#### Progress is already being made to fulfill the Strategic Measures

EPA is already making progress to fulfill the three Strategic Measures. For example, the Agency issued guidance in October 2011 encouraging all Offices to include climate adaptation evaluation criteria into announcements of competitive funding opportunities. The guidance is relevant to announcements in which the outcomes to be supported by the awards are sensitive to changes in climate (*e.g.*, ability to attain air quality standards; effectiveness of water infrastructure), or the projects being solicited would be more effective if they addressed climate change adaptation issues (*e.g.*, development of models and tools to support decision making).

EPA is also already developing tools to support climate adaptation planning. For example, the BASINS tool that is designed for use by regional, state, and local agencies in performing watershed and water quality-based studies now includes a Climate Assessment Tool (CAT). CAT provides a capability for understanding how water resources could be affected by a range of potential changes in climate, and the possible effectiveness of management practices for increasing resilience of water resources to climate change.

climate change adaptation and how to consider it in rulemaking, when appropriate.

Tracking and monitoring rulemakings where climate change adaptation may be an important consideration. To help identify rulemakings where climate change adaptation may be relevant, EPA will use its internal regulatory tracking databases to manage and report on regulatory development. This will allow EPA workgroups and stakeholders to plan and allow for integration of climate change considerations when identified in the critical process points described above.

2. Integration of Climate Change into financial assistance mechanisms: EPA will integrate considerations of climate change impacts and adaptive measures into five major grant, loan, contract or technical assistance programs. This will further EPA's mission, consistent with existing authorities. The integration of "climate adaptation criteria" into financial mechanisms will encourage recipients to account for climate change.

Although this Strategic Measure is limited to a goal of five major financial assistance mechanisms by 2015, the ultimate goal is to integrate climate adaptation into all financial assistance agreements, where appropriate.

**3.** Development and use of decision-support tools: EPA will integrate climate change trend and scenario information into five major scientific models or decision-support tools used to implement Agency environmental management programs. The development of decisionsupport tools will help build the adaptive capacity of the Agency's workforce and its partners.

These three mechanisms represent different pathways through which the Agency can integrate climate change into ongoing programs and priorities, to attain desired environmental and human health outcomes and sustain them as the climate changes. EPA will continue to explore more pathways through which the resilience of the Agency's mission can be enhanced.

# 3.3.2 Priority: Protect Agency Facilities and Operations

EPA is committed to the safety of its personnel, the integrity of its buildings, and the efficiency of its operations, but the increasing frequency and severity of extreme weather events poses risks to meeting these objectives. Climate change could disrupt the operation of the Agency's programs, compromise the safety of its staff, or affect the integrity of its physical infrastructure. Adaptation planning to protect EPA's workforce, operations and underlying infrastructure is crucial.

EPA will develop and implement measures to protect its workforce and increase the resilience of its facilities and operations to climate change. For example, where possible, EPA will enhance the resilience of existing facilities in coastal areas to protect them from severe weather, flood damage, and sea level rise. The Agency will also work with other government agencies, particularly the General Services Administration, to account for climate change in the design and construction of new facilities, or when new buildings are leased.

## 3.3.3 Priority: Factor Legal Considerations into Adaptation Efforts

In appropriate circumstances, EPA should account for climate change in its programs, policies, rules, and operations, to maintain their effectiveness under conditions of environmental change and uncertainty. As a general matter, the Agency's broad mandates to protect human health and the environment afford a large reservoir of legal authority to support adaptation work. However, specific legal questions that may arise in the course of adaptation programming cannot be answered in the abstract.

As a federal agency, EPA derives its authority to act from the U.S. Constitution and the laws passed by Congress. The Agency is committed to ensuring that its actions are constitutional, authorized by statute, consistent with Congress's vision and intent, and otherwise legally supported. The 2011 EPA *Policy Statement on Climate-Change Adaptation* called on the Agency to "identify for the Office of General Counsel areas where legal analysis is needed to carry out agency actions called for in this policy statement." Because the legality of its actions is such a high priority for EPA, program managers and staff are encouraged to freely and frequently consult with the appropriate attorneys in the Office of General Counsel (OGC), Offices of Regional Counsel (ORC), and the Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance (OECA) as they conduct their adaptation work.

Important variation exists among the statutes EPA administers, as well as the regulatory programs EPA designs, implements, and enforces under those laws. Some of these laws, like the Clean Air Act and the Clean Water Act, give EPA regulatory powers, such as the authority to write regulations, set standards, issue permits, ensure compliance, and authorize state and tribal environmental programs. Other laws govern EPA actions in a variety of areas essential to its mission, such as research and development, budget and personnel management, contracts, and the award of financial assistance. Still other laws impose obligations on EPA, such as responsibilities to evaluate the effect of its activities on state and local governments, overburdened communities, small businesses, and endangered species, among others.

Each of these laws, whether granting EPA authority or imposing an obligation, may deserve special attention and analysis in resolving legal questions related to adaptation work. For example, EPA may need to determine the extent of its authority to incorporate adaptation measures into the terms and conditions of financial assistance mechanisms; evaluate the legal basis for considering climate change impacts in setting standards or issuing permits under the Clean Air Act and Clean Water Act; or review the adequacy of its emergency response authorities in the context of more frequent natural disasters. These examples are merely illustrative of the diversity of ways in which legal issues may arise for EPA as it mainstreams climate adaptation.

Important variation also exists in the level of scientific understanding of climate change impacts and the sensitivity of EPA programs to those impacts. These variations inform the analysis of

EPA's legal authority and responsibilities. For instance, under the Administrative Procedure Act, federal agencies like EPA have a basic obligation to act transparently and rationally. This is generally demonstrated through an administrative record that documents the analysis and reasoning leading to a final decision and responds appropriately to concerns raised by interested parties and the public, using the information available to the Agency at the time of its decision. The relative weight climate change considerations should be given in evaluating options for EPA action may depend on factors such as the time and geographic scale of the potentially relevant climate impacts compared to the temporal and spatial scale of the proposed EPA action; the strength of the scientific understanding of the climate impacts; and the environmental and economic consequences estimated to result from including or choosing not to include climate change adaptation measures or considerations in the EPA action.

Considerations such as these are by definition case specific. Over time, however, EPA anticipates that more detailed policy principles and legal precedents will emerge to further guide and inform EPA's adaptation efforts.

# **3.3.4** *Priority:* Strengthen Adaptive Capacity of EPA Staff and Partners Through Training

An organization with adaptive capacity has the ability to craft and adopt new means to achieve its goals as circumstances change. EPA needs its personnel and partners in states, tribes, and local communities to have adaptive capacity if it is to achieve its mission in the midst of climate change. EPA will build adaptive capacity through ongoing education and training. Equipped with an understanding of expected climate-related changes and adaptation approaches, and provided with and trained on how to use new decision-support tools, EPA and its partners will be able to incorporate climate change adaptation into their plans and decisions.

EPA's training, education and outreach programs that are focused on climate adaptation will evolve over time. As an initial step, EPA will design and implement a training program for its staff and its partners focused on topics relevant to EPA's mission. One goal is to increase awareness about the importance of climate change adaptation, and to encourage all EPA staff and partners to consider the changing climate in the normal course of business. A second goal of EPA's training will be to expose its staff and partners to specific approaches and tools for integrating climate adaptation into decision-making processes.

# 3.3.5 *Priority:* Develop Decision-Support Tools that Enable EPA Staff and Partners to Integrate Climate Adaptation Planning into their Work

The fact that the climate is no longer relatively stable, but will continue to change in new ways,

presents a major challenge for decision makers working to protect human health and the environment. Many standard practices may no longer be effective unless they account for climate change. For example, standard methods used for estimating the probability and expected frequency of floods for flood plain

#### The assumption of stationarity

Until now, EPA (for those programs not explicitly focused on climate change) has been able to assume stationarity of climate; that is, climate is relatively stable and future climate will mirror past climate. But the past is no longer a good predictor of the future.

mapping, designing infrastructure systems, and estimating runoff of pollutants and sediments into rivers and streams are based on the assumption of climate stationarity.<sup>5</sup> The end of climate stationarity means that EPA and its partners need to alter their standard practices and decision routines to account for a continuously changing climate.

The development of decision-support tools plays a central role in EPA's overall efforts to adapt to climate change. Following the recommendations of the National Research Council, EPA is committed to developing decision-support tools to improve the quality and efficacy of decisions related to outcomes that are sensitive to changes in climate.<sup>6</sup> These tools will empower staff to consider climate, as well as changes in social and economic conditions that are influenced by

climate change. They will enable staff to integrate climate adaptation planning into their work and decision-making processes. Priority will be given to the development of tools that would benefit end-users in multiple areas of EPA.

EPA will also support capacitybuilding for state, tribal, local, and international partners by working with them to develop

#### Decision Support Tools

"The effectiveness of any decision support tool depends on whether it provides information that is relevant to decision makers. Tools need to be useful at space and time scales that are meaningful and relevant for specific decisions and decision makers, and they also need to be based on up-to-date and reliable information"

(Source: National Research Council, *Informing an Effective Response to Climate Change*, America's Climate Choices: Panel on Informing Effective Decisions and Actions Related to Climate Change, The National Academies Press, Washington, DC, 2010.)

and use effective decision-support tools. EPA will coordinate with other Federal agencies on developing decision-support tools with partners, when appropriate.

#### 3.3.6 *Priority:* Identify Cross-EPA Science Needs Related to Climate Adaptation

Implementing effective strategies to adapt to the changing climate requires that decisions be grounded in the best available science on climate change risks, impacts and vulnerabilities, and adaptive management practices. Throughout EPA, there is a growing need for up-to-date information on the existing models, tools, data and information relevant to climate change adaptation.

EPA has made great progress in climate-related research and with the development of models and tools. However, the complex interactions of climate change impacts mean that uncertainties and data gaps persist and that multiple Agency stakeholders have a role to play in developing a research agenda. In order to identify the most pressing science needs for improved adaptation decision making, *priority* research needs related to climate change adaptation will be identified and periodically updated for the *entire* Agency through a coordinated approach. This approach is designed to produce research results that benefit endusers in multiple areas of EPA.

EPA will advance a rigorous basic and applied science program that will inform, enable and deliver innovative and sustainable solutions to environmental problems in a changing climate. The EPA Office of Research and Development (ORD) has the primary responsibility of coordinating with the Program and Regional Offices to identify the priority science needs of the Agency and its partners. This coordination is essential since some of the priority science needs will be met by ORD's research program, and some by scientists in Program and Regional Offices. In cases where other agencies could produce the scientific information needed, ORD will play a major role representing EPA's needs to other federal agencies. For example, ORD is EPA's primary representative to the U.S. Global Change Research Program (USGCRP), which coordinates and integrates climate change research across 13 federal departments and agencies.

Available data, tools, and information will be shared across the Agency and with its partners to avoid redundancy given the Agency's limited resources. To facilitate the ongoing sharing of information, EPA will establish a central repository of data (and associated metadata), models, tools and information related to climate adaptation that are produced by the Agency. The repository will also include information ("lessons learned") about methods for mainstreaming climate adaptation that have been used by particular EPA Offices that may be applicable to other users across the Agency. Where relevant to the adaptation efforts of EPA and its partners, the repository will be linked to other databases and repositories of information within EPA, as well as those produced by other federal agencies and non-federal entities.

#### 3.3.7 *Priority:* Partner with Tribes to Increase Adaptive Capacity

EPA is committed to strengthening its partnerships with tribes on their priorities related to climate change adaptation. A unique government-to-government relationship exists between the U.S. Government and the 565 federally recognized tribes. EPA gives special consideration to tribes in developing policies that may affect their interests. EPA recognizes that tribes will likely be disproportionately vulnerable to climate change. This disproportionate vulnerability is partly due to their dependence on specific geographic areas for their livelihood; unique cultural, economic and political characteristics; and limited resources to prepare for, respond to and

recover from climate-related hazards (*i.e.*, limited adaptive capacity).<sup>7</sup>

Each Program and Regional Office Implementation Plan will support the development of adaptive capacity in the tribes and identify clear steps for ongoing collaboration with EPA is committed to an ongoing partnership with tribes to build their adaptive capacity and address their adaptation-related priorities.

tribal governments where appropriate. These efforts will include increasing tribal capacity to identify vulnerabilities in order to adapt to a changing climate. EPA will work with tribes to support the effectiveness of national climate change adaptation programs in Indian country. The Agency will support the development of climate science to meet priority research needs and decision-support tools useful to the tribes. EPA will also work with the tribes to identify and support the use of climate change relevant traditional ecological knowledge (TEK) in decision making. EPA recognizes that TEK, as an expression of key information that links historical, cultural and local ecological conditions, may help tribes choose how they adapt to climate change while also protecting resources and resource uses important to their culture and livelihood. These efforts will leverage existing EPA partnerships with the tribes and tribal networks.

On a national level, EPA will work with other Federal agencies to collectively support tribes as they assess their vulnerabilities to climate change and plan and implement adaptation actions. Regional Offices will seek opportunities to work together with other Federal agencies' regional offices to provide strong support to tribes on their particular climate change challenges.

#### 3.3.8: *Priority:* Focus on Most Vulnerable People and Places

The Agency places special emphasis on, and works in partnership with, overburdened populations. As discussed in Part 2 of this report, certain parts of the population, such as children, the elderly, the poor, Tribes and indigenous people can be especially vulnerable to the impacts of climate change. This may be due to susceptibility to health impacts of environmental contaminants, economic status, health status, education or access to

information. Also, certain communities will be particularly vulnerable, such as those that are in low-lying coastal areas or subsistence fishing tribal communities. EPA's efforts to anticipate and adapt to the effects of climate change on its core mission, therefore, will include helping the most vulnerable people and places reduce their exposure to climate change and improving their capacity to predict, prepare for and avoid adverse impacts. For example, Program and Regional implementation plans will include a focus on understanding the environmental-justice implications of climate change impacts, identifying populations and communities vulnerable to climate change and with limited ability to adapt, and incorporating consideration of environmental justice issues into the design and evaluation of adaptation strategies.

The Agency will make special efforts to connect with populations that have been historically underrepresented in decision-making in order to support the development of adaptation plans that are culturally sensitive and that improve their capacity to predict, prepare for, and avoid climate change impacts. The Agency will also continue to focus on life stages vulnerable to climate change.<sup>8</sup> The development of effective adaptation plans and strategies will also be improved by examining the interaction of multiple stressors, including climate change, on communities and populations.

## 3.3.9 Priority: Measure and Evaluate Performance

Evaluation is a systematic way to learn from experiences. In its *Strategic Plan*, EPA emphasizes the importance of evaluating activities and acting on the lessons learned. Through systematic evaluation, the Agency can identify where activities have the greatest impact on protecting human health and the environment; provide the roadmap needed to replicate successes; and conversely, identify areas needing improvement.

EPA will evaluate its climate change adaptation actions on an ongoing basis to assess the Agency's progress toward attaining the desired long-term outcome of mainstreaming climate change adaptation into the Agency's programs, policies, rules and operations. Based on lessons learned about the most effective climate change adaptation strategies, EPA can make adjustments to the way adaptation is integrated into its activities.

EPA's commitment to measuring and evaluating the progress it is making to integrate climate adaptation into its programs, policies, rules, and operations is discussed in greater detail in Part 4.

#### 3.3.10 Priority: Develop Program and Regional Office Implementation Plans

EPA includes National Environmental Program Offices and National Support Offices headquartered in Washington, D.C., and 10 Regional Offices around the country. The EPA *Policy Statement on Climate-Change Adaptation* directs the development of programmatic Implementation Plans. EPA National Environmental Program Offices<sup>9</sup> and Regional Offices will develop their own Implementation Plans providing more detail on how they will integrate climate adaptation into their planning and work, and help address the cross-EPA priorities identified in this agency-wide plan. The National Environmental Program and Regional Offices will have flexibility to develop their Implementation Plans in a manner consistent with their own circumstances and objectives. Support Offices will assist with the implementation of the Agency-wide Plan and National Environmental Program and Regional Office Plans as they do for other initiatives. The ultimate goal of the Implementation Plans is to focus on the core missions and priorities of the Program and Regional Offices, and to ensure that their programs and operations are resilient and effective in a changing climate.

The Implementation Plans will be completed by June 28, 2013. While flexibility is essential to produce Implementation Plans that are effective and responsive in meeting each specific organization's needs, Environmental Program and Regional Offices will cooperate as they develop their respective plans, share experiences and lessons learned, and coordinate on issues that cut across Agency programs and regions. The EPA National Water Program has already developed the second iteration of its National Water Program Strategy: Response to Climate Change. The 2008 Strategy and the forthcoming 2012 revision provides opportunities for lessons learned and examples of how other EPA programs may approach development of their plans.<sup>10</sup>

The Cross-EPA Work Group on Climate Adaptation Planning will oversee the development of the Implementation Plans and identify required interim products (*e.g.,* comprehensive vulnerability assessments) that will facilitate the development of the Plans.

#### **Common Areas of Focus for Implementation Plans**

- 1. Vulnerability assessments
- 2. Priority actions on climate adaptation
- 3. Agency-wide Strategic Measures on climate adaptation
- 4. Legal and enforcement issues
- 5. Training and outreach
- 6. Partnerships with tribes
- 7. Vulnerable Populations and Places
- 8. Evaluation and cross-Office pilot projects
Annual highlights of progress from each Environmental Program and Region will be included in updates to the agency-wide Climate Change Adaptation Plan that will be submitted on an annual basis with the Agency's Sustainability Plan. The Implementation Plans will also be used to provide input to the Agency's annual planning and budgeting process, where appropriate.

In order to promote consistency, the Implementation Plans for all Environmental Program and Regional Offices will have several common areas of focus, as outlined in the table below. There will be diversity among the plans and some offices may have a broader scope in some areas than others. For instance, Regional Offices may be able to focus their efforts on particular geographic locations more than National Program Offices.

1. Vulnerability assessments: Each Implementation Plan (Office or Region) will contain an initial assessment of the implications of climate change for the organization's priorities and objectives. This assessment will build on the work presented in Part 2 of this document. Program and Regional Offices are at different stages of understanding and addressing the ways climate change may affect their respective missions. Some Implementation Plans will therefore have more detailed information on vulnerabilities than others.

2. Priority actions for climate adaptation: Each Implementation Plan will describe the organization-specific priorities related to climate change adaptation. At the core of each Implementation Plan will be a description of the activities that the Program or Regional Office will pursue over time to integrate climate change adaptation into its programs, policies and operations. The Plan will describe how these activities address both organization-specific priorities and the cross-Agency priorities. In addition, Implementation Plans will describe how Program and Regional Offices will work together on actions that are most effectively accomplished by more than one Office or Region.

For each action, the Implementation Plan will identify the organization's key partners at the international, federal, state, tribal, local, public and private sector levels. Attention will be given to engaging those partners who have been historically under-represented.

Activities will include both short- and long-term actions. Short-term activities may include actions that are readily achievable, such as specific training needed to begin building adaptive capacity. Short-term activities may also focus on areas where the organization has relative certainty about climate impacts, and therefore feels that action cannot be delayed. The more immediate actions will enable the organization to learn what works. Armed with the lessons learned, the organization can move forward with insights and information as it begins to tackle additional issues. Longer-term activities will focus on building resilient, healthy communities that have the knowledge and tools needed to inform decisions.

**3. Agency-wide Strategic Measures on climate adaptation:** At a minimum, the Implementation Plans will consider activities that address the three existing Agency-wide Strategic Measures (discussed in Section 3.3.1 and in Part 4), to the extent they are applicable to the organization.

**4. Legal and enforcement issues:** Specific legal questions may arise as each Program and Regional Office integrates adaptation planning into its programs, policies, and rules. Each Office will describe how its program managers and staff will consult with the appropriate attorneys in the Office of General Counsel (OGC), Offices of Regional Counsel (ORC), and the Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance (OECA), as they conduct their adaptation work.

**5. Training and outreach:** All Program and Regional Offices will benefit from Agency-wide training activities that they will work together to develop and implement under the auspices of the Cross-EPA Work Group on Climate Change Adaptation. Each Implementation Plan will describe the ways in which the organization will use the Agency-wide training resources to educate its staff. Each Implementation Plan will also indicate how the organization will then, over time, integrate climate adaptation where appropriate into *existing* Office-specific training programs used by its workforce and external partners. Regional Offices, working in coordination with HQ Program Offices as needed, may also choose to take the lead on cross-media training and awareness-building among states and other external partners.

6. Partnerships with tribes: Each Program and Regional Office Implementation Plan will include actions to address the tribes' adaptation issues relevant to the Office. The Implementation Plans will identify how the Office will work collaboratively with tribes to increase the adaptive capacity of the tribes. This partnership will help ensure that priority tribal adaptation needs are addressed, and efforts to build adaptive capacity within tribes are effective. The Office of International and Tribal Affairs (OITA) will support the efforts of all Offices to consult and partner with the tribes to develop and implement the actions. Also, OITA will help coordinate the interactions of EPA Offices with tribes to promote unified EPA consultations with individual tribes.

7. Vulnerable populations and places. Each implementation plan will describe how the Program or Regional office will identify vulnerable populations and places to climate change. The process of conducting vulnerability assessments and determining priority actions for climate adaptation should consider how each Program and Regional Office can help vulnerable populations and places reduce their exposure to climate change and how to improve their capacity to predict, prepare for, and avoid adverse impacts. The plans are a useful tool to account for the regional variability in how climate change will impact people and places already overburdened by environmental pollution or other stressors.

**8. Evaluation and cross-organization pilot projects:** Each Implementation Plan will include a process for measuring and evaluating the effectiveness over time. Program and Regional Offices are encouraged to partner with each other to conduct pilot projects that test climate adaptation approaches that are broadly applicable. Relevant Implementation Plans will describe these joint efforts, as well as Office-specific pilot projects. The goal is to learn what approaches work and why. The Implementation Plans will periodically be adjusted to improve the organization's efforts to integrate climate adaptation into its activities.

## 3.4 Importance of Partnerships

EPA believes strong partnerships are critical to fulfilling its mission of protecting human health and the environment. As stated in the EPA *Strategic Plan*, successful partnerships make the most effective use of partners' respective bodies of knowledge, resources and talents. Partnerships are keys to effective integration of climate change adaptation considerations into the protection of human health and the environment. In general, EPA will focus adaptation work on existing geographic-based partnerships with the goal of increasing effectiveness in climate change adaptation efforts.

States, tribes, and local communities share responsibility for protecting human health and the environment, and

partnerships with EPA are at the heart of the country's environmental protection system. These partnerships will be critical for efficient, effective and equitable implementation of climate adaptation strategies. EPA's Regional and Program Offices will therefore work

# Cross-cutting national strategies relevant to adaptation planning at EPA

- National Action Plan: Priorities for Managing Freshwater Resources in a Changing Climate
- Draft National Fish, Wildlife and Plants Climate Adaptation Strategy
- Draft National Ocean Policy Implementation Plan

(For more information: http://www.whitehouse.gov/administration/eop/ceq/initiatives/adaptation)

with their partners, engage local stakeholders, and use a diversity of approaches to form the development of adaptive capacity and encourage climate adaptation planning depending upon state, tribal, and local needs and conditions.

EPA will continue to build and maintain strong partnerships with other federal agencies. For example, EPA will continue to actively participate in the Interagency Climate Change Adaptation Task Force and related working groups, including the Task Force's Agency Adaptation Working Group, the Freshwater Adaptation Working Group, the Fish, Wildlife and Plants Working Group, and the National Ocean Council. EPA will be part of the Federal Agency Climate Change Adaptation Community of Practice, which is a forum that allows agency staff working on adaptation to share knowledge and experience on adaptation planning, implementation and evaluation. The Program and Regional Office Implementation Plans will identify specific areas of collaboration with other federal agencies where appropriate, such as in delivering support to tribes.

Finally, climate change impacts do not stop at our borders, but instead can pose risks globally. EPA is committed to working with our partners internationally to share expertise, practical experiences, information and data to address adaptation issues.

## Endnotes

<sup>1</sup> U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Policy Statement on Climate-Change Adaptation*, June 2, 2011, http://epa.gov/climatechange/Downloads/impacts-adaptation/adaptation-statement.pdf.

<sup>2</sup> U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "FY 2011-2015 EPA Strategic Plan, Achieving Our Vision" (2011), 43, http://epa.gov/planandbudget/strategicplan.html.

<sup>3</sup> It will also be important, as EPA moves forward, to examine what impact rules being developed now could have in the future, taking climate into consideration.

<sup>4</sup> ICF Incorporated, "The Reg Map: Informal Rulemaking," 2003, http://www.reginfo.gov/public/reginfo/Regmap/regmap.pdf.

<sup>5</sup> National Research Council, *Informing Decisions in a Changing Climate*, Panel on Strategies and Methods for Climate-Related Decision Support, Committee on the Human Dimensions of Global Change, Division of Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education (Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 2009).

<sup>6</sup> National Research Council, *Informing Decisions in a Changing Climate*, Panel on Strategies and Methods for Climate-Related Decision Support, Committee on the Human Dimensions of Global Change, Division of Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education (Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 2009).

<sup>7</sup> S.L. Cutter and C. Finch, "Temporal and Spatial Changes in Social Vulnerability to Natural Hazards," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science* 105(7) (2008), 2301-2306.

<sup>8</sup> In 2005 EPA started using the term life stages to refer to age-defined groups. The term life stage refers to a distinguishable time frame in an individual's life characterized by unique and relatively stable behavioral and/or physiological characteristics that are associated with development and growth. For example, EPA views childhood as a sequence of lifestages. There are other lifestages that may be important to consider when assessing human exposure and risk including, pregnancy, nursing, and middle and later years.

<sup>9</sup> This includes the Office of Air and Radiation (OAR), Office of Water (OW), Office of Research and Development (ORD), Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response (OSWER), Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance (OECA), Office of Chemical Safety and Pollution Prevention (OCSPP) and the Office of International and Tribal Affairs (OITA).

<sup>10</sup> National Water Program Strategy: Response to Climate Change. 2008 and 2012. Available at: http://www.epa.gov/water/climatechange

## Part 4: Measuring and Evaluating Performance

### **4.1 Existing Strategic Performance Measures**

The FY 2011-2015 EPA Strategic Plan outlines the Agency's long-term goals, objectives, and strategic

measures, which are the measurable human health and environmental results the Agency is working to achieve.<sup>1</sup> The EPA Strategic Plan acknowledges that the ability of communities to respond to changes in climate over the coming decades is critical to achieving many of the environmental outcomes the Agency is working towards. Consequently, the EPA *Strategic Plan* contains three strategic measures intended to promote the integration of climate adaptation planning into the Agency's activities.<sup>2</sup> The three strategic measures are focused on core Agency

#### FY 2011-2015 Strategic Measures on Climate Adaptation

By 2015, EPA will account for climate change by integrating climate change science trend and scenario information into five rule-making processes to further EPA's mission, consistent with existing authorities (preference for one related to air quality, water quality, cleanup programs, and chemical safety.)

By 2015, EPA will build resilience to climate change by integrating considerations of climate change impacts and adaptive measures into five major grants, loan, contract, or technical assistance programs to further EPA's mission, consistent with existing authorities (preference for one related to air quality, water quality, cleanup programs, and scientific research).

By 2015, EPA will integrate climate change science trend and scenario information into five major scientific models and/or decision-support tools used in implementing Agency environmental management programs to further EPA's mission, consistent with existing authorities (preference for one related to air quality, water quality, cleanup programs, and chemical safety.)

activities that influence its ability to fulfill its mission: (1) rule-making processes; (2) the distribution of financial resources and technical assistance; and (3) the development of science models and decision-support tools.

The strategic measures are used by the Agency to design annual performance measures that are presented in EPA's *Annual Plans and Budgets*, and to establish priorities in the annual National Program Manager (NPM) Guidance. The Agency then reports on its performance against these annual measures in the *Annual Performance Reports*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "FY 2011-2015 EPA Strategic Plan, Achieving Our Vision" (2011), 43, http://epa.gov/planandbudget/strategicplan.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Performance measures can be used to provide accountability, as well as to guide decisions about program refinement and prioritization. They can be used to provide program managers and staff, and other external stakeholders, with valuable information about whether a project or program is meeting the desired goals. Measures can help identify when program goals are not being met and whether changes need to be made to meet those goals.

In its FY 2011-2015 Strategic Plan, EPA emphasizes the importance of continuously evaluating

activities based on their progress and performance, and acting on lessons learned. EPA is already using the three strategic measures pertaining to climate change adaptation to begin evaluating its actions on an ongoing basis. Through ongoing evaluation, the Agency

#### **Importance of Program Evaluation**

Because EPA programs and regions will be learning by experience as we integrate climate change adaptation into regulation, financial mechanisms and information tools, it will be essential to apply evaluation as a tool to better understand how well approaches work and how they can be improved upon.

will learn how to effectively mainstream climate adaptation planning into its activities. EPA will evaluate what worked and why, as well as what didn't work and why not. Based on the lessons, EPA will make adjustments to the way adaptation is integrated into its activities.

### **4.2 New Performance Measures**

Over time, the Agency will identify where its adaptation activities have or can have the greatest impact on protecting human health and the environment. However, it will be an ongoing challenge to measure the direct impact of EPA's adaptation planning activities on the resilience of its programs, and on the human health and environmental outcomes it is striving to attain. Metrics that enable one to attribute changes in resilience of environmental and human health outcomes to EPA's adaptation efforts, where this is possible, do not yet exist. Such metrics need to be developed over time.

Although the three existing strategic measures do not directly attribute changes in resilience of environmental and human health outcomes to EPA's adaptation efforts, they are focused on essential processes and outcomes (*e.g.*, increased adaptive capacity gained through changes in knowledge and changes in behavior) that are important steps toward achieving the long-term goal of resilience to climate change.

As the Agency works to fulfill each of the three existing strategic measures, it might be possible to identify additional actions that must be taken to successfully attain the measures. For example, as EPA Program Offices integrate climate change adaptation into major rulemaking processes, they may discover that an effective approach is through the development of guidance for states and tribes authorized to implement Federal environmental programs. Identification of key steps like this might lead to the development of additional measures (*e.g.,* numbers of states applying climate-related aspects of EPA guidance) for evaluating EPA's progress.

As EPA works with interested states and tribes to consider climate adaptation as they implement environmental programs, it could work with them to explore ways to measure changes in their adaptive capacity. Metrics could reflect *changes in knowledge* (*e.g.,* number of partners taking formal training to increase their awareness of the importance of adaptation planning), *changes in behavior* (*e.g.,* increases in the use of decision support tools to integrate climate adaptation planning into state and local planning activities such as infrastructure planning decisions), and *changes in state/condition* (*e.g.,* changes in the ability of communities to withstand more frequent and intense storm events and avoid, for example, combined sewer overflow events).

Some of the pilot projects that will appear in Program and Regional Office Implementation Plans may also explore innovative ways for measuring changes in adaptive capacity through changes in knowledge, changes in behavior, or changes in state/condition. These will also inform the development of future Agency strategic measures.

EPA recognizes that the integration of climate adaptation planning into its programs, policies, rules, and operations will occur over time. This change will happen in stages and measures should reflect this evolution. The earliest changes in many programs will be changes in knowledge and awareness (*e.g.*, increase in the awareness of EPA staff and their external partners of the relevance of adaptation planning to their programs). Building on this knowledge, they then will begin to change their behavior (*e.g.*, increase their use of available decision support tools to integrate adaptation planning into their work). As programs mature, there will be evidence of more projects implemented as a result of increased attention to climate-related programmatic issues. Finally, in the long-term, adaptation planning efforts will lead to changes in condition (*e.g.*, percentage of flood-prone communities that have increased their resilience to storm events) to directly support EPA's mission to protect human health and the environment.

## Summary of Program Vulnerabilities to Climate Change Impacts by EPA Strategic Goal

	CLIMATE CHANGE I	MPACTS <sup>b</sup>		EPA PRO	OGRAMMATIC IMPACTS <sup>C</sup>
Goal <sup>a</sup>	Climate Change Impact <sup>d</sup>	Likelihood of Impact <sup>e</sup>	Focus of Associated EPA Program	Likelihood EPA Program will be Affected by Impact <sup>f</sup>	Example of Risks if Program were Impacted
r Quality	<ul> <li>Increased tropospheric ozone pollution in certain regions</li> </ul>	• Likely <sup>1</sup>	<ul> <li>Protecting public health and the environment by setting National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS) and implementing programs to help meet the standards</li> </ul>	• High	<ul> <li>Could become more difficult to attain NAAQS for ozone in many areas with existing ozone problems</li> </ul>
e and Improving Air	<ul> <li>Increased frequency or intensity of wildfires</li> </ul>	• Likely <sup>2</sup>	<ul> <li>Protecting public health and the environment by setting National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS) and implementing programs to help meet the standards</li> </ul>	Medium	<ul> <li>Could complicate Agency efforts to protect public health and the environment from risks posed by particulate matter (PM) pollution in areas affected by more frequent wildfires</li> </ul>
Climate Change	<ul> <li>Increasing extreme temperatures</li> <li>Increasing heavy precipitation events</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Very Likely<sup>3</sup></li> <li>Likely<sup>3</sup></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Protect public health by promoting healthy indoor environments through voluntary programs and guidance</li> </ul>	Medium	<ul> <li>Could increase public health risks, including risks for the young, the elderly, the chronically ill, and socioeconomically disadvantaged populations</li> </ul>
: Taking Action on	<ul> <li>Effects on the stratospheric ozone layer</li> </ul>	• Likely <sup>4</sup>	<ul> <li>Restoring the stratospheric ozone layer</li> <li>Preventing UV-related disease</li> <li>Providing a smooth transition to safer alternatives</li> </ul>	• High	<ul> <li>Unable to restore ozone concentrations to benchmark levels as quickly at some latitudes</li> </ul>
Goal 1: T	<ul> <li>Effects on response of ecosystems to atmospheric deposition of sulfur, nitrogen, and mercury</li> </ul>	• Likely <sup>5</sup>	<ul> <li>Ecosystem protections from Agency emissions reduction programs</li> </ul>	• Low	<ul> <li>Based on evolving research, could have consequences for the effectiveness of ecosystem protections under those programs</li> </ul>

	CLIMATE CHANGE I	MPACTS <sup>b</sup>		EPA PRO	OGRAMMATIC IMPACTS <sup>C</sup>
Goal <sup>a</sup>	Climate Change Impact <sup>d</sup>	Likelihood of Impact <sup>e</sup>	Focus of Associated EPA Program	Likelihood EPA Program will be Affected by Impact <sup>f</sup>	Example of Risks if Program were Impacted
3oal 2: Protecting America's Waters	<ul> <li>Increasing heavy precipitation events</li> <li>Increasing intensity of hurricanes</li> <li>Sea-level rise</li> <li>Decreasing precipitation days and increasing drought intensity</li> <li>Ocean acidification</li> <li>Increased water temperatures</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Likely<sup>3</sup></li> <li>Likely<sup>3</sup></li> <li>Very likely<sup>6</sup></li> <li>Likely<sup>7</sup></li> <li>Certain<sup>8</sup></li> <li>Very Likely<sup>9</sup></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Restoring and protecting watersheds, aquatic ecosystems and wetlands</li> </ul>	• High	<ul> <li>Increased number of sewer overflows and wastewater bypasses, as well increased pollutant loads in runoff, fouling streams and threatening public health.</li> <li>Challenges to coastal wetlands' ability to migrate.</li> <li>Reduced streamflow, altering the aquatic environments and increasing impairments.</li> <li>Continued stress on coral reefs.</li> <li>Shifts in aquatic habitat will threaten the economic and cultural practices of tribal communities.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Increasing heavy precipitation events</li> <li>Increasing intensity of hurricanes</li> <li>Sea-level rise</li> <li>Increasing intensity of hurricanes</li> <li>Increasing flood risk</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Likely<sup>3</sup></li> <li>Likely<sup>3</sup></li> <li>Very likely<sup>6</sup></li> <li>Likely<sup>3</sup></li> <li>Likely<sup>7</sup></li> </ul>	Drinking water, wastewater and stormwater infrastructure	• High	<ul> <li>Water infrastructure could be overwhelmed or damaged.</li> <li>Drinking water intakes and wastewater outfalls could be affected.</li> <li>Integrity of coastal water infrastructure systems could be put at increased risk.</li> <li>Drinking water and wastewater utilities will need an 'all hazards' approach to planning for emergencies and extreme weather events.</li> <li>Problems of safety as well as access to clean and safe water will be exacerbated for vulnerable and economically deprived communities.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Increased water temperatures</li> <li>Increasing heavy precipitation events</li> <li>Sea-level rise</li> <li>Decreasing precipitation days and increasing drought intensity</li> <li>Loss of snowpack</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Very likely<sup>9</sup></li> <li>Likely<sup>3</sup></li> <li>Very likely<sup>6</sup></li> <li>Likely<sup>7</sup></li> <li>Very likely<sup>10</sup></li> </ul>	• The quality and availability of safe drinking water	• Medium	<ul> <li>High water temperatures and increased stormwater runoff will increase the need for drinking water treatment, raising costs.</li> <li>May cause saltwater intrusion in surface water and ground water, placing increased demands on drinking water treatment.</li> <li>Water supplies may be affected, forcing communities to seek alternative sources.</li> <li>Water demand may shift to underground aquifers or prompt development of reservoirs or underground storage of treated water, requiring EPA to ensure safety.</li> </ul>

	CLIMATE CHANGE I	MPACTS <sup>b</sup>		EPA PR	OGRAMMATIC IMPACTS <sup>c</sup>
Goal <sup>a</sup>	Climate Change Impact <sup>d</sup>	Likelihood of Impact <sup>e</sup>	Focus of Associated EPA Program	Likelihood EPA Program will be Affected by Impact <sup>f</sup>	Example of Risks if Program were Impacted
nmunities & opment	<ul> <li>Sea Level Rise</li> <li>Increasing heavy precipitation events</li> <li>Increasing risk of floods</li> <li>Changes in temperature</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Very likely<sup>6</sup></li> <li>Likely<sup>7</sup></li> <li>Likely<sup>7</sup></li> <li>Very likely<sup>3</sup></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Cleaning up Contaminated Sites and Waste Management</li> </ul>	• Low	<ul> <li>Increased risk of contaminate release from EPA Sites</li> <li>May need to alter selected remedies to ensure protection.</li> </ul>
g Up America's Cor Sustainable Develc	<ul> <li>Melting permafrost in Northern Regions</li> </ul>	• Likely <sup>10</sup>	<ul> <li>Cleaning up Contaminated Sites and Waste Management</li> </ul>	• High	<ul> <li>Increased risk of contaminant release at sites and potential impact to drinking water where permafrost was utilized as a containment remedy.</li> <li>May need to implement new remedies to contain contaminants at sites previously protected by permafrost.</li> </ul>
Goal 3: Cleanin Advancing	<ul> <li>Increasing intensity of hurricanes</li> <li>Increasing heavy precipitation events</li> <li>Increasing risk of floods</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Likely<sup>3</sup></li> <li>Likely<sup>3</sup></li> <li>Likely<sup>7</sup></li> </ul>	Emergency Response	• High	<ul> <li>Increased need for emergency response.</li> <li>Possible limitations to response capability due to staff and financial resource constraints.</li> </ul>
Goal 4: Ensuring Safety of Chemicals & Preventing Pollution	<ul> <li>Increasing extreme temperatures</li> <li>Increasing heavy precipitation events</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Very likely<sup>3</sup></li> <li>Likely<sup>3</sup></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Protecting human health and ecosystems from chemical risks.</li> </ul>	• Low	<ul> <li>Assure that chemical exposure models reflect changes in the environment</li> <li>Changing in planting timing or location may affect the volume and timing of agricultural chemical use which could impact the appropriate risk management decisions.</li> </ul>
Facilities and Operations	<ul> <li>Increased Water Temperatures</li> <li>Decreasing precipitation days and increasing drought intensity</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Very likely<sup>9</sup></li> <li>Likely<sup>7</sup></li> </ul>	Water usage at EPA facilities	• High	<ul> <li>Water temperatures impact research activities or cooling requirements.</li> <li>Facilities could be located in areas with water shortages</li> </ul>

	CLIMATE CHANGE I	MPACTS <sup>b</sup>		EPA PRO	EPA PROGRAMMATIC IMPACTS <sup>c</sup>						
Goal <sup>a</sup>	Climate Change Impact <sup>d</sup>	Likelihood of Impact <sup>e</sup>	Focus of Associated EPA Program	Likelihood EPA Program will be Affected by Impact <sup>f</sup>	Example of Risks if Program were Impacted						
	<ul> <li>Increasing risk of floods</li> <li>Increasing intensity of hurricanes</li> <li>Sea level rise</li> <li>Increasing extreme temperatures</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Likely<sup>7</sup></li> <li>Likely<sup>3</sup></li> <li>Very likely<sup>6</sup></li> <li>Very likely<sup>3</sup></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Operations of Agency facilities, personnel safety, physical security, and emergency communications</li> <li>Emergency management mission support (protective gear and acquisition)</li> </ul>	• Medium	<ul> <li>Facilities in coastal or flood-prone areas</li> <li>Personnel engaged in field work and vulnerable to extreme temperatures or events</li> <li>Security, lighting and communication systems without backup power</li> <li>Personnel and real property supporting emergency response and management</li> </ul>						

## Footnotes for Summary of Climate Change Vulnerabilities to Climate Change Impacts by EPA Goal Table

<sup>a</sup>This table summarizes vulnerabilities by goal for four of the five goals in EPA's Strategic Plan. Goal 5 "Enforcing Environmental Laws" is not included in this table. Please note that the table also summarizes vulnerabilities to EPA facilities and operations; this is not part of the EPA Strategic Plan goal structure but is an important element of EPA's vulnerability assessment. Please see Section 2 of this document for a fuller discussion of impacts.

<sup>b</sup>Climate Change Impacts are based upon peer-reviewed scientific literature

<sup>c</sup> Programmatic Impacts are based upon EPA best professional judgment at this time. <sup>d</sup> Impacts can vary by season and location.

<sup>e</sup> In general, the sources cited in this section use Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) likelihood of outcome terminology where the term 'very likely' means 90-100% probability and the term 'likely' means 66-100% probability. For some impacts in the table, additional discussion on the likelihood term is provided in the associated footnote.

<sup>1</sup> **High** assumes the program will be affected by the impact; **Medium** assumes the program could be affected under some conditions by the impact; **Low** assumes that there is a potential for the program to be impacted or uncertainty currently exists as to the potential nature and extent of the impact. This assessment is based on best professional judgment within EPA at this time. Please note, this column does not reflect several important considerations. For example it does not distinguish timeframes (current, near-term, long-term). It does not account for regional and local variations. And it does not reflect the priority of actions the agency may undertake now or in the future.

1) Denman, K.L., et al. (2007). Couplings Between Changes in the Climate System and Biogeochemistry. In: Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor and H.L. Miller (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.

2) C.B. Field et al., "North America," Chapter 14 in *Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability*, Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, ed. M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani, J.P. Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden and C.E. Hanson (Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press, 2007).

3) IPCC, 2012: Summary for Policymakers. In: Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation [Field, C.B., V. Barros, T.F. Stocker, D. Qin, D.J. Dokken, K.L. Ebi, M.D. Mastrandrea,K.J. Mach, G.-K. Plattner, S.K. Allen, M. Tignor, and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. A Special Report of Working Groups I and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1-19.

4) World Meteorological Organization, *Scientific Assessment of Ozone Depletion: 2010*, Global Ozone Research and Monitoring Project—Report No. 52 (Geneva, Switzerland, 2011). Note: the word "expected" is used in the report to characterize projected climate change impacts on the stratospheric ozone layer. For purposes of this table the word "likely" has been used as a proxy for "expected."

5) Burns, D.A., Lynch, J.A., Cosby, B.J., Fenn, M.E., Baron, J.S., US EPA Clean Air Markets Div., 2011, National Acid Precipitation Assessment Program Report to Congress 2011: An Integrated Assessment, National Science and Technology Council, Washington, DC, p. 114.

6) IPCC, 2012: "It is very likely that mean sea level rise will contribute to upward trends in extreme coastal high water levels in the future."

7) USGCRP, 2009: *Global Climate Change Impacts in the United States*. Thomas R. Karl, Jerry M. Melillo, and Thomas C. Peterson (eds.). United States Global Change Research Program. Cambridge University Press, New York, NY, USA.

8 ) NRC, 2010: National Research Council of the National Academies, America's Climate Choices: Panel on Advancing the Science of Climate Change, 2010. p 41. "One of the most certain outcomes from increasing  $CO_2$  concentrations in the atmosphere is the acidification of the world's oceans." For purposes of this table, the term "certain" is used.

9) USGCRP, 2009: p. 46. [In the case of freshwater] "Increased air temperatures lead to higher water temperatures, which have already been detected in many streams, especially during low-flow periods." For the purposes of this table "very likely" is used.

10) Bates, B.C., Z.W. Kundzewicz, S. Wu and J.P. Palutikof, Eds., 2008: Climate Change and Water. Technical Paper of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, IPCC Secretariat, Geneva, p. 130

Appendix B: Fleet Management Plan



# Environmental Protection Agency

## Fiscal Year 2012 Vehicle Allocation Methodology Fleet Management Plan

February 2012



### Contents

Background	1
VAM Summary	1
VAM Approach	1
VAM Results	3
VAM Implementation	5
Appendix A: FY 2012 VAM Profile	6

#### Figures

1.	Baseline and Optimal Fleet Inventories by Vehicle Type	. 1
2.	Exempt Vehicle Inventories and Examples	. 2
3.	Non-exempt Vehicle Inventories and Examples	. 2
4.	Baseline Fleet Inventory by Fuel and Vehicle Type	. 2
5.	Optimal Fleet Inventory by Fuel and Vehicle Type	. 4
6.	Projected Vehicle Eliminations by Fuel and Vehicle Type	. 4
7.	Projected Exempt Vehicle Eliminations by Vehicle Type	. 4



#### Background

On May 24, 2011, President Obama signed a Presidential Memorandum entitled "Federal Fleet Performance," which instructs federal agencies to implement strategies to optimize their fleet inventory by using a vehicle allocation methodology (VAM). Each VAM is meant to emphasize the elimination of unnecessary or non-essential vehicles from an agency's fleet inventory in order to reduce costs and fuel consumption. The Presidential Memorandum also requires that by December 31, 2015, all new light duty vehicle acquisitions must be alternative fueled vehicles (AFVs).

Shortly after the Presidential Memorandum was released, the General Services Administration (GSA) developed and distributed "GSA Bulletin B-30, Motor Vehicle Management" to assist agencies in satisfying the VAM requirements of the Presidential Memorandum. Pursuant to GSA Bulletin B-30 and the Presidential Memorandum, EPA has developed this Fleet Management Plan, which (a) outlines EPA's approach to the VAM; (b) identifies EPA's optimal fleet inventory (i.e., that which is most efficient to meet the Agency's mission); and (c) provides a plan on how the Agency will achieve that inventory.

#### VAM Summary

EPA's Fiscal Year (FY) 2011 vehicle fleet inventory consisted of 1,145 vehicles, including 440 exempt vehicles. The baseline inventory, which excludes the exempt vehicles, is composed of 705 vehicles. EPA applied utilization criteria and used survey data call responses from Regional and Program Fleet Managers to determine that the Agency's optimal non-exempt fleet was 663 vehicles, a decrease of 42 vehicles or 6.0 percent. See Figure 1 below detailing the inventory changes to the baseline fleet (non-exempt vehicles):

	Sedan	SUV	Van	Truck	Bus	Ambulance	Total
<b>Baseline Fleet Inventory</b>	155	279	145	117	9	0	705
<b>Optimal Fleet Inventory</b>	144	272	131	108	8	0	663
Projected Net Change	11	7	14	9	1	0	42

#### Figure 1. Baseline and Optimal Fleet Inventories by Vehicle Type

EPA has also identified six exempt vehicles that the Agency plans to eliminate in FY 2012, for a total net decrease of 48 vehicles. EPA will dispose of these vehicles throughout the course of FY 2012 as outlined in the Implementation section of this Fleet Management Plan. These anticipated inventory reductions are estimated to save the federal government over \$100,000 annually as a result of this VAM.

#### VAM Approach

EPA constructed a baseline inventory using FY 2011 fleet data downloaded from the Automotive Statistical Tool (AST) database, the Agency's fleet management information system. EPA's FY 2011 fleet consisted of 1,145 vehicles, of which 440 vehicles were exempt from the VAM and are excluded from the baseline and optimal fleet inventories. Exempted vehicles are those used for law enforcement, emergency response and other special purpose. Special purpose vehicles are listed under the 'Other' category in the Exempt Vehicle Summary in the VAM Reporting Tool that EPA uploaded to the Federal Automotive Statistical Tool (FAST). See Figure 2 below for exempt vehicle inventories and descriptions:



Vehicle Mission	Number of Vehicles	Mission Explanation	Mission Example
Law Enforcement	278	Vehicles used for law enforcement purposes at least 75% of the time	A vehicle used for criminal or internal investigation operations
Emergency Response	79	Vehicles used for emergency response purposes at least 75% of the time	A vehicle used to transport essential emergency response equipment and personnel
Other (Special Purpose)	83	Vehicles that are specially modified for a specific mission purpose	A vehicle specially outfitted to carry bulky field equipment over rough terrain

#### Figure 2. Exempt Vehicle Inventories and Examples

Per GSA's VAM Reporting Tool spreadsheet, only non-exempt vehicles are to be included in the baseline inventory and disposal totals. EPA's non-exempt vehicles totaled 705 in the FY 2011 inventory. Of these, 98 are classified as being used primarily for cargo transport while the remaining 607 are used primarily for passenger transport. See Figure 3 below for the Agency inventory totals and mission descriptions:

#### Figure 3. Non-Exempt Vehicle Inventories and Examples

Vehicle Mission	Number of Vehicles	Mission Type Explanation	Mission Example
Cargo	98	Vehicles that are used primarily for the transportation of equipment	A vehicle used to transport field equipment
Passenger	607	Vehicles that are used primarily to transport EPA personnel or contractors	A vehicle used to transport employees

The FY 2011 baseline fleet inventory is composed of 45 Agency-owned vehicles, 614 GSA-leased vehicles, and 46 commercially-leased vehicles. The baseline fleet consists of 210 conventional fuel vehicles and 495 alternative fuel vehicles (AFVs), meaning that over 70 percent of the baseline fleet are AFVs. See Figure 4 below for a breakdown of EPA's baseline inventory by fuel type and vehicle type:

#### Figure 4. Baseline Fleet Inventory by Fuel and Vehicle Type

	Sedan			S	SUV Van		Truck				Bus	Tatal	
	Subcompact	Compact	Midsize	LD*	MD*	LD	MD	LD 4x2	LD 4x4	MD	HD*	MD	Total
Agency Owned													
<b>Conventional Fuel</b>	-	-	-	3		6	2	3	5	12	4	5	40
Alternative Fuel	-	-	1	3	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	5
GSA Leased													
<b>Conventional Fuel</b>	4	5	1	57	21	21	7	6	2	33	6	-	163
Alternative Fuel	8	108	23	165	5	105	1	6	25	5	-	-	451
Commercially Leased													
<b>Conventional Fuel</b>	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2	2	3	7
Alternative Fuel	2	3	-	24	1	3	-	-	3	2	-	1	39
Total	14	116	25	252	27	135	10	15	36	54	12	9	705

\*Light Duty (LD); Medium Duty (MD); Heavy Duty (HD)

Environmental Protection Agency

EPA developed a series of threshold criteria to apply to the baseline inventory that would help the Agency identify under-utilized, inefficient, or otherwise unnecessary vehicles. These five criteria categories were ranked and tiered in order of importance and are explained below:

- 1) Exemptions Vehicles with exempt status (law enforcement, emergency response, special purpose and overseas vehicles) were excluded from further analysis and not recommended by EPA Headquarters (HQ) for elimination.
- 2) Utilization A threshold was established for utilization at 10,000 miles per year (MPY) traveled. Non-exempt vehicles that traveled less than 10,000 MPY were considered under-utilized and recommended for elimination by EPA HQ. Recently acquired vehicles were not subjected to the threshold due to the fact that they did not have one complete year of travel data.

Non-exempt fleet vehicles that traveled fewer than 10,000 MPY were recommended for elimination in the fleet survey data call. The resulting 261 vehicles were ranked by the final three criteria below in order to prioritize that old and inefficient vehicles were to be eliminated first. HQ submitted each Region/Program's recommended eliminations to that fleet's associated Fleet Manager, thereby easily identifying the most achievable vehicle reductions for each fleet.

- 3) Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Score Vehicles with a GHG Score of less than 5 (per EPA's Green Vehicle Guide) were recommended as having 'very high' elimination potential. Vehicles that failed to pass either of the first tier criteria, but had a GHG Score of 5 or greater were marked with 'high' elimination potential.
- 4) Miles Per Gallon (MPG) Vehicles with a GHG score of less than 5 and fewer than 15 combined MPG were recommended as having 'extremely high' elimination potential.
- 5) Vehicle Age Comparative age of the vehicle was taken into account for those vehicles not subject to the GSA replacement schedule.

EPA HQ applied these thresholds to its entire baseline fleet inventory and separated these out into spreadsheets for each EPA Region and Program fleet. The spreadsheets detailed which vehicles EPA HQ recommended for elimination as well as those that EPA HQ did not recommend for disposal. In a survey data call, EPA HQ requested that Regional and Program Fleet Managers either concur with the disposal recommendations or justify retention of the vehicles. If the Fleet Manager agreed with the elimination, they had to provide a projected disposal date for the vehicle. Conversely, if the Fleet Manager did not concur with EPA HQ's recommendation to eliminate, they were required to justify retention of the vehicle. Fleet Managers were asked to provide specific insights as to the mission requirements of each vehicle and how an eliminated vehicle would adversely affect essential Agency operations. HQ maintained an open dialogue with Fleet Managers throughout the justification process. Though not specifically listed as criteria in the data call, the following variables were also contributing factors during this dialogue: historical/expected miles of use per vehicle, needed cargo and/or passenger capacity, vehicle condition, vehicle function, and vehicle retention cycle. Fleet Managers were also asked to consider whether their mission could be accomplished by alternate means such as utilizing other existing fleet vehicles.

#### VAM Results

After diligently reviewing each of the Agency's 1,145 vehicles, EPA identified dozens of vehicles that will be eliminated. Based on the utilization criteria applied to the baseline inventory and data call survey responses from Regional and Program Fleet Managers, an optimal fleet inventory of 663 non-exempt vehicles was established. This constitutes elimination of 42 vehicles from the baseline fleet of 705 vehicles or a 6.0 percent reduction of the fleet. Figure 5 provides the EPA's optimal fleet inventory by fuel type and vehicle type below:

	Sedan			S	SUV Van		Truck				Bus	S Total	
	Subcompact	Compact	Midsize	LD*	MD*	LD	MD	LD 4x2	LD 4x4	MD	HD*	MD	TOLAI
Agency Owned													
<b>Conventional Fuel</b>	-	-	-	2	-	4	2	3	3	11	3	4	32
Alternative Fuel	-	-	1	3	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	5
GSA Leased													
<b>Conventional Fuel</b>	3	4	1	55	21	20	3	4	2	31	6	-	150
Alternative Fuel	8	106	19	163	5	99	1	6	24	5	-	-	436
Commercially Leased													
<b>Conventional Fuel</b>	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2	2	3	7
Alternative Fuel	-	2	-	22	1	2	-	-	3	2	-	1	33
Total	11	112	21	245	27	125	6	13	33	51	11	8	663

#### Figure 5. Optimal Fleet Inventory by Fuel and Vehicle Type

\*Light Duty (LD); Medium Duty (MD); Heavy Duty (HD)

EPA plans to eliminate a total of 42 non-exempt vehicles, all of which are projected to be disposed of in FY 2012. The bulk of these eliminations are GSA-leased with 28 vehicles slated to be turned in without replacement. It should be noted that annual GSA replacements (i.e., exchanging one vehicle for another via GSA) are not counted as both acquisitions and disposals on the VAM Reporting Tool submitted in FAST. EPA has only shown actual fleet reductions in an effort to simplify the reporting process while providing the same net result. Figure 6 details the projected eliminations by fuel and vehicle type as a result of the VAM:

#### Figure 6. Projected Vehicle Eliminations by Fuel and Vehicle Type

	Sedan		S	SUV Van		Truck				Bus			
	Subcompact	Compact	Midsize	LD*	MD*	LD	MD*	LD 4x2	LD 4x4	MD	HD*	MD	Total
Agency Owned													
<b>Conventional Fuel</b>	-	-	-	1	-	2	-	-	2	1	1	1	8
Alternative Fuel	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
GSA Leased													
Conventional Fuel	1	1	-	2	-	1	4	2	-	2	-	-	13
Alternative Fuel	-	2	4	2	-	6	-	-	1	-	-	-	15
Commercially Leased													
<b>Conventional Fuel</b>	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Alternative Fuel	2	1	-	2	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	6
Total	3	4	4	7		10	4	2	3	3	1	1	42

\*Light-duty (LD); medium-duty (MD); heavy-duty (HD)

Though not required in the VAM, survey responses from Regional and Program Fleet Managers aided EPA HQ in identifying six exempt vehicles that could be eliminated without jeopardizing mission requirements. These six vehicles will be eliminated in addition to the 42 projected non-exempt vehicle eliminations, for a total of 48 eliminated vehicles. Figure 7 displays these six vehicles by vehicle type:

#### Figure 7. Projected Exempt Vehicle Eliminations by Vehicle Type

	Sedan	SUV	Van	Truck	Bus	Ambulance	Total
FY 2011 Exempt Vehicles	121	186	31	100	0	2	440
Projected Exempt Vehicle Eliminations	1	0	2	3	0	0	6
Projected Exempt Vehicle Inventory	120	186	29	97	0	2	434

Environmental Protection Agency

Although EPA has currently identified an optimal fleet inventory of 663 vehicles, as shown in Figure 5, the Agency recognizes that this optimal fleet projection is subject to change in future VAM reports. EPA will continue to reassess the optimal fleet inventory as mission requirements change and VAM methodologies are refined. As mission requirements change, so too does the need for government vehicles to accomplish that mission. Additionally, EPA wants to carefully monitor the effects that the 48 total eliminations will have on the fleet to ensure that other vehicles do not become overburdened as a result. Careful monitoring will ensure that the Agency is running the leanest fleet possible while still meeting mission requirements.

#### VAM Implementation

As a result of the VAM, EPA will be disposing of 42 non-exempt vehicles. All of these were marked by Regional and Program Fleet Managers for disposal at various points within FY 2012. This means that EPA expects to achieve its optimal fleet inventory by the end of FY 2012. However, as the Agency revisits the VAM annually through FY 2015, EPA will continue to reassess its current and optimal fleets with the goal of further eliminating unnecessary and non-essential vehicles from the inventory. Specific steps will be taken to ensure that EPA realizes its optimal fleet inventory and complies with all other parts of the Presidential Memorandum:

- 1) **Disposals** EPA HQ will coordinate with Regional and Program Fleet Managers on which vehicles need to be returned, to whom, and when. EPA HQ will ensure that all eliminated vehicles will be disposed of on time and in accordance with federal regulations. EPA projects that all 42 vehicles identified for disposal will be eliminated in FY 2012.
- 2) AFV Acquisitions EPA will comply with the Presidential Memorandum mandate to acquire only AFVs starting January 1, 2016, through managerial controls as well as the education of Regional and Program Fleet Managers. Currently, all acquisitions must have approval from EPA HQ prior to finalization. If those vehicles are not AFVs (including hybrid electric vehicles [HEVs], plug-in hybrid electric vehicles [PHEVs], and low greenhouse gas-emitting vehicles [LGVs]), EPA HQ will not approve these orders. Additionally, EPA will educate Fleet Managers on this new mandate via trainings, newsletters, and conference calls to ensure that EPA complies.
- 3) AFV Locating As part of the AFV acquisition approval process, EPA will confirm that E85 fueling infrastructure is available prior to placing flex-fuel vehicles (FFVs) there. Any fleet location requesting an FFV acquisition will be checked using the Department of Energy Alternative Fuel Station Locator to ensure that E85 infrastructure is located within five miles to maximize the amount of E85 used. This will help the Agency to meet alternative fuel consumption requirements of Executive Order 13423, the Energy Policy Act of 2005, and the Energy Independence and Security Act of 2007.
- 4) Acquisition Sourcing EPA does not have statutory authority to purchase passenger motor vehicles unless specifically granted by Congress. Therefore, EPA will continue to lease the majority of its fleet from GSA and commercial sources. EPA is required to lease from GSA unless GSA cannot provide a vehicle to meet EPA's mission requirements and issues a waiver. Additionally, GSA is routinely the most inexpensive source for leasing motor vehicles. For these reasons, EPA will source its vehicle acquisitions from GSA for the foreseeable future with periodic exceptions.
- **5)** Strategic Planning Integration EPA will incorporate the provisions of this Fleet Management Plan into the Agency's annual Strategic Sustainability Performance Plan (SSPP), as required by Section 2(d) of the Presidential Memorandum.

As a result of this VAM, EPA anticipates reducing its non-exempt fleet by approximately 6.0 percent, with an estimated cost savings of over \$100,000 per year on leasing costs. The Agency is taking an aggressive approach, by eliminating all 42 identified vehicles within one year and will monitor its fleet to ensure it is of optimal fleet size and composition. In future VAM efforts, the Agency will continue to review not only the regular vehicle inventory, but the exempt vehicles as well in an effort to be responsible stewards of federal funding. EPA is committed to continually seeking opportunities to optimize its fleet size while reducing costs and fuel consumption.



#### **Appendix A: VAM Profile**

The VAM Profile is a series of brief questions in FAST on each federal agency's VAM approach in order for GSA to gather feedback on the process.

- 1. At what level was the VAM analysis performed? EPA Answer: Entire Agency, Region, Single Location
- 2. On what general basis is the VAM constructed? EPA Answer: One VAM per office or facility; One VAM per program area
- 3. If any non-exempt vehicles are not covered by the VAM, what is the reason? EPA Answer: All non-exempt vehicles were covered in this VAM.
- 4. The VAM affected which of the following? EPA Answer: Vehicle retention; acquisition of replacement vehicles; acquisition of additional vehicles; disposal of unneeded vehicles; decisions regarding sourcing of vehicle acquisitions
- 5. What criteria does the VAM use to justify vehicle retention/acquisition? EPA Answer: Mileage utilization; mission criticality; terrain; climate
- 6. Where does the VAM acquire data? EPA Answer: Fleet management information system; surveys/questionnaires
- 7. Does the VAM perform any of the following? EPA Answer: Recommends optimal vehicle sourcing
- 8. What factors does the VAM use in making vehicle recommendations? EPA Answer: Availability of alternative fuel infrastructure

Appendix C: Biobased Purchasing Strategy

#### Addendum to the 2012 Strategic Sustainability Performance Plan: Responding to the President's Memorandum on Promotion of Biobased Markets

On February 21, 2012, President Obama signed a Memorandum, *Driving Innovation and Creating Jobs in Rural America through Biobased and Sustainable Product Procurement*. The memorandum requires all federal agencies to undertake a number of activities to increase their purchase of biobased products. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) is making great strides in implementing the requirements of the Presidential Memorandum. All of the accomplishments, initiatives, strategies, plans, and guidance outlined below demonstrate EPA's commitment to effectively execute Federal procurement requirements for biobased products, including those requirements identified in Executive Order (EO) 13514 and prescribed in the 2002 Farm Bill, as amended by the 2008 Farm Bill.

#### Accomplishments to date include:

EPA has provided, and continues to provide training, education and outreach in accordance with Section(s) 1 and 7, respectively of the Presidential Memorandum. Following are examples of the training and outreach offered to Agency personnel, inclusive of the Office of Acquisition Management (OAM) staff.

- In June 2012 OAM notified the acquisition community about web-based training on "Driving BioPreferred® with the Presidential Memorandum" offered by the USDA. This free 60-minute training opportunity was found at <u>http://www.biopreferred.gov/Training\_Resources.aspx</u>, and provided the latest information on how biobased procurement in the Federal sector can help agencies meet the goals of Strategic Sustainability Performance Plans and OMB Scorecards.
- In July and August 2012 a team of OAM analysts provided sustainable acquisition training at the Simplified Acquisition Contracting Officer's quarterly meeting; in an OAM mini-training session; and at the 2012 Project Officer/Contracting Officer Conference. Each training session included a discussion and provided information about the USDA's biopreferred program.
- 3. In September a team of OAM's analysts attended the annual GreenGov Symposium *Leading by Example*. The analysts attended roundtable discussions on emerging technologies, and agency sustainability plans; as well as training on green purchasing and the federal agency sustainability initiatives.
- 4. In October OAM published a newsletter devoted entirely to sustainable acquisitions. The newsletter titled *HOT TIPS*, shared sustainable acquisition policy information on biobased products, and biobased products FAR clauses across the Agency and is published on the Agency's intranet. While OAM has published this newsletter on a quarterly basis for the past 11 years; the October 2012 publication is the only edition devoted exclusively to sustainable acquisitions.

- 5. In November a team of OAM analysts participated in the Sustainable Acquisition and Materials Management (SAMM) Practices Workgroup. This Workgroup discussed biobased products and the newly implemented reporting requirements as a result of the revision to FAR 52.223-2, *Affirmative Procurement of Biobased Products under Service and Construction Contracts.* Information learned in this Workshop will further enhance the EPA's compliance with the requirements of the Presidential Memorandum.
- 6. In November an OAM analyst will attend, along with staff from the Facilities Management and Services Division, the Sustainability Plan and Climate Adaptation Workshop. The first part of this workshop will focus on sustainability plans, and will enhance OAM's knowledge and ability to ensure continued compliance with the requirements of the Presidential Memorandum. (If a call-in number is made available, additional OAM staff will listen/participate.)
- 7. OAM is currently inviting Ron Buckhalt, the Program Manager for the USDA's Biopreferred program, to conduct a training session at EPA. This training session will be on the USDA's biopreferred program. The audience will consist of Agency's contracting officers, contract specialists and contracting officer representatives. The goal of this training is to increase the number of contracts and purchase orders requiring biobased products (i.e., janitorial, landscaping, construction contracts, etc.) This training will be held in November 2012.

#### **Baseline for Biobased Contracting:**

As reported in early July 2012 in the OMB Sustainability Scorecard, OAM submitted a baseline by running an ad hoc report in FPDS-NG which identified 1349 new actions in 3<sup>rd</sup> quarter FY2012. Of these 1349 new actions, it was determined that 56 should have contained a contract clause for biobased items. Of the 56, 41 actions contained the biobased option under FAR clause 52.223-4, Recovered Material Certification, which is a 73 percent compliance rate. OAM is planning on discussing with OMB, on or before November 30, 2012, inclusion of the data elements in FPDS-NG for the biobased clauses 52.223-1 and 52.223-2. OAM anticipates that a more objective baseline for biobased contracting will be developed upon inclusion of these data elements.

#### FY 2013 Target/Compliance Goal:

EPA will continue working to emphasize the use of biobased products in FY 2013. The Agency is reviewing acquisitions and striving to maintain a compliance level above the required 50% for biobased clauses in applicable contract actions. To accomplish this goal, in FY 2013 EPA will continue quarterly compliance reviews of relevant contract actions to emphasize the inclusion of biobased products and service requirements and clauses in applicable contracts. If EPA identifies that biobased compliance in relevant contracts is less than 50 percent, the agency will address these specific contracts and implement corrective actions.

#### **Strategies for Improving Compliance:**

During FY 2013 EPA will implement the following strategies to improve compliance.

- 1. A team of OAM analysts are preparing to record a sustainable acquisition webinar which will be posted on the Agency's intranet. The webinar will include a discussion of the requirement to use biobased products in applicable contract actions. It is anticipated that the webinar will be posted by the end of calendar year 2012.
- 2. EPA will soon appoint the Agency's Environmental Point of Contact (EPOC). Upon appointment it is planned that the EPOC will work closely with the Agency's program offices, contract offices, and the Office of Small Business Programs, to increase the purchase of biobased products from Agency's vendors. As such, the EPOC will use the baseline data developed in early July 2012 to measure the Agency's success in increasing the use of biobased products in contracts and purchase orders, as well as identify any areas needing improvement. The success rates, areas needing improvement, and planned corrective actions will be reported to the Agency's senior management.
- 3. OAM is partnering with the Agency's Evaluation Support Division to survey the acquisition staff's buying decisions pertaining to the Environmentally Preferable Purchasing (EPP) Program. Plans are underway to issue the survey in December 2012. The survey and subsequent evaluation will help to develop a better understanding of the role environmentally preferable or "green products" play in federal acquisition decisions. Although EPP is one of the broadest "green" categories, survey participants are asked "if biopreferd is one of the standards or certifications typically looked for when purchasing building and construction products/office furniture." EPA will have the survey results in May 2013, and the final evaluation report will be made publically available on EPA's website at http://epa.gov/evaluate.
- 4. In October 2012 OAM issued policy guidance implementing an improved acquisition planning process. The new acquisition planning process requires the acquisition planning team to consider the use of sustainable acquisitions, inclusive of using biobased products, in the early phases of planning the contract. As a result it is anticipated that the Agency's program and contracting offices will make decisions leading to the increased use of biobased products in applicable contract actions.
- 5. In October 2012 OAM issued policy guidance notifying contracting officers and contract specialists of the recent change to FAR 52.223-2, *Affirmative Procurement of Biobased Products under Service and Construction Contracts.* The guidance provides a template from the USDA's BioPreferred website as well as FAQs. To help contracting officers and contractors navigate this new reporting requirement, OAM has dedicated two analysts to respond to associated inquires.
- 6. As required by Section 1 of the Presidential Memorandum, OAM has incorporated data collection and reporting requirements as part of the program evaluation. As such, the annual FPDS-NG Verification and Validation that will be completed for FY 2012 includes a review of the Recovered Materials/Sustainability and EPA-Designated Product(s) fields in FPDS-NG to identify any data quality issues that may be impacting biobased reporting. Any data collection issues found will be discussed with senior management and alternatives and/or corrective action will be implemented.

7. OAM is developing an FY 2013 Balanced Scorecard (BSC) initiative that will strategically and proactively outline how OAM will work collaboratively with key stakeholders to identify ways in which to promote and increase the contract awards of sustainable products and services, inclusive of the use of biobased products. Also, this BSC initiative will address how the Agency will comply with Section 3 of the Presidential Memorandum which requires random samples of procurement actions (such as solicitations and awards) to verify that biobased considerations are included as appropriate. A deliverable of the BSC will be the submission of random sample results for inclusion in the Agency's Sustainable/Energy Scorecard Report to OMB.

#### **Required Specification Reviews (for all agencies that control specification standards.)**

The progress column of EPA's midyear OMB Sustainability Scorecard does not have an action item for the Agency to perform a review of 25% of the applicable formal specifications. As such, this section of the Addendum is not applicable.